*Correspondence: mariette.ducatez@envt.fr; gilles.meyer@envt.fr

IHAP, Université de Toulouse, INRAE, ENVT, Toulouse, France

REVIEW





Understanding the mechanisms of viral and bacterial coinfections in bovine respiratory disease: a comprehensive literature review of experimental evidence

Maria Gaudino, Brandy Nagamine, Mariette F. Ducatez^{*} and Gilles Meyer^{*}

Abstract

Bovine respiratory disease (BRD) is one of the most important diseases impacting the global cattle industry, resulting in significant economic loss. Commonly referred to as shipping fever, BRD is especially concerning for young calves during transport when they are most susceptible to developing disease. Despite years of extensive study, managing BRD remains challenging as its aetiology involves complex interactions between pathogens, environmental and host factors. While at the beginning of the twentieth century, scientists believed that BRD was only caused by bacterial infections ("bovine pasteurellosis"), we now know that viruses play a key role in BRD induction. Mixtures of pathogenic bacteria and viruses are frequently isolated from respiratory secretions of animals with respiratory illness. The increased diagnostic screening data has changed our understanding of pathogens contributing to BRD development. In this review, we aim to comprehensively examine experimental evidence from all existing studies performed to understand coinfections between respiratory pathogens in cattle. Despite the fact that pneumonia has not always been successfully reproduced by in vivo calf modelling, several studies attempted to investigate the clinical significance of interactions between different pathogens. The most studied model of pneumonia induction has been reproduced by a primary viral infection followed by a secondary bacterial superinfection, with strong evidence suggesting this could potentially be one of the most common scenarios during BRD onset. Different in vitro studies indicated that viral priming may increase bacterial adherence and colonization of the respiratory tract, suggesting a possible mechanism underpinning bronchopneumonia onset in cattle. In addition, a few in vivo studies on viral coinfections and bacterial coinfections demonstrated that a primary viral infection could also increase the pathogenicity of a secondary viral infection and, similarly, dual infections with two bacterial pathogens could increase the severity of BRD lesions. Therefore, different scenarios of pathogen dynamics could be hypothesized for BRD onset which are not limited to a primary viral infection followed by a secondary bacterial superinfection.

Keywords: Bovine respiratory disease, respiratory viruses, respiratory bacteria, coinfections, cattle, bacterial superinfection, in vitro, experimental infections, influenza D virus

Table of Contents

- 1 Bovine respiratory disease: the prelude of a respiratory outbreak
- 2 Most common infectious agents involved in BRD: from the twentieth century up to now
 - 2.1 Pasteurella multocida

© The Author(s) 2022. **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/ficenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.

- 2.2 Mannheimia haemolytica
- 2.3 Histophilus somni
- 2.4 Mycoplasma bovis
- 2.5 Bovine respiratory syncytial virus
- 2.6 Bovine coronavirus
- 2.7 Bovine herpesvirus type 1
- 2.8 Bovine parainfluenza type 3
- 2.9 Bovine viral diarrhea virus
- 2.10 Influenza D virus
- 2.11 Other influenza viruses
- 3 Prevalence of coinfections in cattle herds: an interplay between viruses and bacteria
- 4 Impact of coinfections on respiratory pathology in cattle: what is the experimental evidence?
 - 4.1 Viral and bacterial coinfections: the importance of primary viral infections preluding secondary bacterial superinfection
 - 4.2 In vitro approaches to further elucidate viral and bacterial coinfection pathogenicity mechanisms
 - 4.3 Viral coinfections: a less explored model of increased pathogenesis in BRD
 - 4.4 Bacterial coinfections: can bacteria initiate BRD without the presence of primary triggers?
 - 4.5 Bacterial coinfection studies: synergy or antagonism?
- 5 Discussion
- References

1 Bovine respiratory disease: the prelude of a respiratory outbreak

Bovine respiratory disease (BRD) is a general term for a range of respiratory disorders that can affect the lower respiratory tract in cattle. BRD is the second most common disease impacting the global beef industry, after neonatal calf diarrhoea [1], being a particular burden in young cattle and pre-weaned calves. Economic loss due to treatment costs, reduced performance (i.e. loss of weight or absence of weight gain, lighter carcass at slaughter or reduced milk production in dairy farms) and animal death can be substantial for producers [2]. Moreover, the high consumption of antibiotics to treat BRD causes concern over the emergence of antimicrobial resistance in cattle and also in humans, indirectly via the food chain, water, air, and manured and sludge-fertilized soils [3], thus threatening both animal and human health.

Early BRD manifestations include general signs, such as lack of appetite, self-isolation, depression and fever.

These signs can evolve to more severe respiratory signs including nasal and eye discharge, salivation, rapid breathing, dyspnoea and prominent coughing [4]. BRD is known to be a multifactorial syndrome, triggered by a combination of environmental factors and infectious agents. Among environmental factors, events such as transportation and handling (i.e. for dehorning) are the most important stressful experiences for animals, as well as weaning or changes of feed [5, 6]. Cattle transportation alone is an important trigger in BRD, causing an increase in mortality during respiratory outbreaks, especially when following secondary bacterial infection [7]. Other environmental factors include the combination of insufficient ventilation, wet and dirty bedding, dust exposure and overcrowding, which can increase the possibility of pathogens transmission [8]. Also, the general microbial pressure in the environment due to lack of good hygiene practice can increase the risk of infections. Elements such as good colostrum quality and management, normal level of essential nutrients and adequate rest (especially after shipping) are essential for calves to maintain a normal immune function in response to challenging pathogens [9], as well as minimum stress exposure (i.e. good care when handling and using low stress techniques). Biosecurity measures (i.e. isolating new or sick animals and avoiding housing animals of mixed ages together) can also significantly decrease the risk of pneumonia outbreaks in cattle herds [9]. Lastly, routine feedlot vaccination can reduce the likelihood of primary viral infection, significantly reducing mortality [10]. In this review we will focus on the principal infectious agents involved in BRD and how the interactions between these pathogens impact pathogenesis.

2 Most common infectious agents involved in BRD: from the twentieth century up to now

At the beginning of the twentieth century, BRD was believed to be solely caused by bacterial infections and thus referred to as "bovine pasteurellosis" or, as reported in the first descriptions of the disease in late nineteenth century, as "haemorrhagic septicaemia" [11]. Around the 30 s', scientists started to observe that beside Pasteurella spp. infection, other factors played a role in the disease development [12]. Animals experimentally inoculated with bacteria alone failed to reproduce the typical pneumonia signs [11, 13]. In addition, these bacteria could be cultured from apparently healthy animals after they were stressed such as during shipping (for this reason BRD was often referred as "shipping fever" during the last century) but also overcrowding, weaning and weather variations [14, 15]. In the 50 s, the theory of viral causation gained support in North America, when bovine herpesvirus-1 (BoHV-1), the etiological agent of infectious bovine



rhinotracheitis (IBR) [16], and bovine parainfluenza virus type 3 (BPIV-3), known as myxovirus parainfluenza 3 at that time, were isolated from cattle with shipping fever [12, 17]. During experimental infection, BPIV-3 mimicked natural pneumonia [18] with bacterial superinfections often accentuating the clinical signs and lesions in animals (Figures 1, 2).

BRD is now globally recognized as a polymicrobic disease, with bacterial coinfections known to affect the morbidity and mortality during viral respiratory infections [19]. Although the majority of pneumonia outbreaks are predominantly caused by bacteria and viruses, some fungi belonging to *Aspergillus* spp. genus [20] and parasites, commonly known as "lungworms" [21], can

also trigger respiratory disease. Bacteria are generally isolated at higher prevalence in cattle with respiratory signs and because of this, antibiotic treatment is often the first choice made by veterinarian practitioners to avoid a rapid progression to severe BRD [22]. The most common bacteria isolated from cattle with respiratory signs belong to the *Pasteurellaceae* family, the most prevalent being *Pasteurella multocida*, *Mannhemia haemolytica* and *Histophilus somni* [23]. These three pathogens are also commensals of the upper respiratory tract (nasopharynx and tonsils) in healthy calves but can subsequently become opportunistic when host defences are compromised, leading to colonization of the lower respiratory tract [24]. Another class of bacteria that plays an

Page 4 of 25



Figure 2 Heat map showing the impact of sequential coinfections on respiratory pathology in cattle on in vivo experiments. On the y-axis, the virus used for the primary viral infection is represented. On the x-axis, the pathogen used for the secondary superinfection is listed. The severity of coinfections on in vivo studies (compared to single pathogens) was given a score from 1 to 4 (colour code for the score is given in function of the increase in clinical signs, light orange to dark orange). The description of the scoring system that we used to describe the impact of coinfection in vivo is available as Additional file 1. Cell values represent the mean between the scores given to different in vivo studies performed with the same pathogens. The value in parentheses represents the number of trials carried out for each couple of pathogens that were used to calculate the mean score. White cells indicate an absence of in vivo studies for that specific couple of pathogens. *: the two pathogens were simultaneously inoculated in some studies.

important role in BRD belongs to the Mycoplasmataceae family, specifically the Mycoplasma spp. genus. Among these, Mycoplasma bovis is one of the most widespread, leading to the highest morbidity [25]. Mycoplasma dispar and Mycoplasma bovirhinis can be isolated from sick cattle as well [26, 27]. On the other hand, viruses also play an important role in BRD. Some viruses have been well known BRD agents for years and their pathogenesis is well characterized, whereas others have less clear roles. This list of viruses includes bovine respiratory syncytial virus (BRSV), bovine coronavirus (BCoV), bovine herpesvirus 1 (BoHV-1), BPIV-3 and bovine viral diarrhea virus (BVDV) [28]. Also, thanks to the advent of new generation of sequencing technologies (next generation sequencing (NGS)) new viruses have been discovered and could now be part of the official list of BRD pathogens, i.e. influenza D virus (IDV) [29-31]. Some viruses are thought to be more benign with an incidental finding during coinfection, but others such as BRSV can have a major pathogenic potential and can be the only etiological agent responsible for a respiratory outbreak in cattle herds, especially during the winter season [32].

To better understand the dynamic interactions between the various cattle respiratory pathogens, we will discuss the most common BRD-associated pathogens in the following paragraphs. Treatment options and preventive measures (i.e. vaccines) will also be covered for each pathogen.

2.1 Pasteurella multocida

Pasteurella multocida is a Gram-negative bacterium that can infect a wide range of mammals and domestic birds. It was first discovered by Louis Pasteur around 1881 during the investigation of the etiological agent of fowl cholera [33]. Since the same bacteria could produce disease in different animal species, in 1939, scientists proposed to classify all these bacterial strains under the same genus and species, thereafter named Pasteurella multocida [34]. It is currently classified into five capsular groups (named from A to E) and 16 somatic serotypes (1 to 16). In cattle, P. multocida A:3 is the most common serotype isolated from animals displaying BRD and its pathogenicity has been confirmed in experimental studies [35]. In addition, serogroups B, E and F can be pathogenic in this species [36]. P. multocida infection in cattle can cause different types of bronchopneumonia, ranging from subacute to chronic fibrinopurulent but also fibrinous and fibro-necrotizing, which can be accompanied by a variable amount of intra-alveolar haemorrhage with moderate to severe neutrophils and macrophages infiltration in bronchi and bronchioles [37]. Vaccines to prevent P. multocida infection consist of bacterins (killed bacteria) [38] and the only available treatments are antibiotics, despite rising antibiotic resistance, as recently reported [39].

2.2 Mannheimia haemolytica

M. haemolytica is another important Gram-negative bacterium involved in calf pneumonia. It was previously known as "Pasteurella haemolytica" but a revisitation of the Pasteurellaceae classification based on genetic similarity suggested its removal from the Pasteurella genus and thus the creation of a new genus named Mannhe*imia* [40]. Hence, in this review, some scientific studies from before 1999 still contain the ancient nomenclature "Pasteurella haemolytica". Currently, M. haemolytica is classified based on 12 capsular serotypes (named A1, A2, A5, A6, A7, A8, A9, A12, A13, A14, A16 and A17) [41]. Serotypes associated with respiratory disease in cattle are prevalently A1 and A6 [42]. Infected animals can first display general clinical signs such as fever along with loss of appetite and weight loss but also respiratory signs such as cough, nasal discharge and respiratory distress. The

principal cause of death is acute fibrinous pleuropneumonia due to the obstruction of bronchioles and alveoli with fibrinous exudate [43]. Necropsy commonly reveals fibrinosuppurative pneumonia, necrotizing inflammatory response and alveolar damage and necrosis due to neutrophil and macrophage infiltration in the lung and fibrin deposition in the alveoli [41]. Vaccines containing *M. haemolytica* leucotoxin, its main virulent factor [44], are currently available. However, there is still a lack of data in the scientific literature to reinforce the full efficacy of this preventive measure [45]. Intranasal probiotic administration of *Lactobacillus* strain in order to prevent *M. haemolytica* colonization of the upper respiratory tract has been evaluated in a clinical trial and could represent a future possibility for the prevention of cattle pneumonia [46].

2.3 Histophilus somni

H. somni is a Gram-negative bacterium that mainly affects cattle but can occasionally also infect small ruminants [47]. Unlike P. multocida and M. haemolytica, the circulating strains of *H. somni* are not currently classified into specific serotypes and no comprehensive nomenclature is available to date. It was first isolated in 1956 from cattle with meningitis [48]. Animals of all ages can be affected but recently, it was shown that weaned calves seem to be at higher risk of infection [49]. Although H. somni is considered, like the other mentioned Pasteurellaceae, a commensal bacterium of the nasal tract, different strains have also been isolated from urogenital secretions, which can be responsible for venereal spread [50]. When the bacterium colonizes lungs and gains access to the blood stream, it can cause systemic disease that is not limited to the respiratory tract. H. somni infection can thus also cause encephalitis, myocarditis and sudden death due to acute septicaemia [51]. Post-mortem findings in the lungs include bronchopneumonia and fibrinous pleurisy [52]. Diagnosis based on gross lesions is accompanied by bacterial culture and molecular testing. Treatment options include large-spectrum antibiotics such as florfenicol but, similarly to M. haemolytica, bacterins are currently available as preventive measure, although they have failed to demonstrate effective protection in vaccinated animals [53].

2.4 Mycoplasma bovis

M. bovis is a particular type of bacteria that greatly differs from those we previously described. Its represents one of the most challenging bacterial BRD pathogens. First isolated in 1961 [54], *M. bovis* causes pneumonia outbreaks in calves and young cattle but also mastitis in dairy cows, as well as otitis and abortion [55]. Like all the other members of the *Mycoplasmataceae* family, it

is the smallest known bacteria. It lacks a cell wall, making it naturally resistant to several classes of antibiotics [56]. Clinical signs of infected animals can include fever, depression, nasal discharge, shallow breathing and cough. Post-mortem findings include bronchopneumonia with characteristic caseous necrotic lesions and also fibrinosuppurative bronchopneumonia [57]. Once introduced to a farm (i.e. through contaminated animals), eradication is difficult due to its strong environmental resistance [58] and widespread herd dissemination through direct contact [57]. Being a persistent intracellular bacterium lacking a cell wall reduces the choice for antibiotic treatment, representing another obstacle for its elimination. In addition, other major challenges include high antigenic variability of surface glycoproteins and the ability to evade host immune system [59]. Treatment efficacy is questionable with treated animals relapsing after a few weeks, in part due to increased antibiotic resistance over time [60]. A few vaccines are currently commercialized in North America, consisting of bacterins which offer limited protection [59].

2.5 Bovine respiratory syncytial virus

BRSV (also known as bovine orthopneumovirus) is one of the most important viral pathogens involved in BRD. It is a single-stranded RNA virus belonging to the Pneumoviridae family (order Mononegavirales) [61]. Although it is similar to the human respiratory syncytial virus (around 40% of nucleotide identity) [62], BRSV has only been diagnosed in cattle as well as wild and domesticated small ruminants [63] and it is not considered a zoonotic pathogen. The first report of BRSV infection in cattle dates from 1967 in Geneva, Switzerland [64], after which it spread to other countries. There are currently ten circulating lineages [65], as based on genotyping of a small immunogenic region in the glycoprotein G which is important for antibody recognition. The biological significance of the antigenic variation in this region might thus be relevant for vaccine efficacy [32]. BRSV has the highest pathogenic potential among all circulating viruses in cattle with clinical signs ranging from mild-moderate to subclinical. Less frequently, BRSV infection can progress to respiratory acute distress syndrome including fever, depression, decreased food intake, and dyspnoea with open-mouth breathing that can exacerbate during late stage infection [66]. In some cases, up to 80% of morbidity is reported, with mortality reaching up to 20% [67]. Emphysematous and haemorrhagic lung lesions, as well as necrotizing bronchiolitis and interstitial pneumonia, especially in the cranial lobes, are characteristics of BRSV infection at necropsy [66]. The infection can also produce the typical multi-nucleated syncytial cells formed by the fusion of several cells caused by the fusion protein F. Several vaccines are available on the market as a prophylactic measure against BRSV infection [68, 69].

2.6 Bovine coronavirus

BCoV is a single-stranded RNA virus belonging to the Coronaviridae family (Coronavirinae subfamily, order Nidovirales), and is classified within the Betacoronavirus 1 subgroup (Embecovirus) [70]. It was first isolated in 1972 from diarrheic calves [71] and in 1982 from BRD calves [72]. Endemic in cattle worldwide, it is known for its pneumo-enteric tropism, causing both enteric disease (especially calf diarrhoea) and pneumonia outbreaks [73]. After experimental BCoV inoculation, colostrumdeprived calves develop cough, nasal discharge, respiratory distress and diarrhoea [74]. Treatment for the enteric disease associated with BCoV infection is largely limited to supportive care (i.e. rehydration, electrolyte administration, and the use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs [75, 76]). Several vaccines against the enteric form are currently available [77]. Vaccines protecting against BCoV respiratory-associated disease are still missing.

2.7 Bovine herpesvirus type 1

BoHV-1 is a DNA virus belonging to the Herpesviridae family (subfamily Alphaherpesvirinae, order Herpesvirales) and the known etiological agent for infectious bovine rhinotracheitis (IBR) [78]. It is believed to have been first isolated from German cattle with venereal disease in the nineteenth century and later associated with respiratory disease during a 1954 outbreak in California [79-81]. BoHV is divided into two circulating subtypes, BoHV-1.1 and BoHV-1.2 [82], which are both characterized by acute inflammation of the upper respiratory tract but can also sporadically cause abortion in cattle, as well as conjunctivitis, vaginitis and enteritis [83]. In particular, respiratory signs associated with BoHV-1 infection include mucopurulent nasal discharge (sometimes accompanied by ulcers in mouth and nose), conjunctivitis, coughing, sneezing, and difficult breathing [84]. BoHV-1 in cattle is characterized by lifelong latent infection with sporadic viral reactivation and shedding when immune defences are compromised (i.e. following a stressful event such as shipping) [85]. Commercially available vaccines are broadly used in various European countries to prevent BoHV-1 associated syndrome leading to progressive eradication of the disease as part of a monitoring program for control maintenance and eradication [86].

2.8 Bovine parainfluenza type 3

BPIV-3 is a single-stranded RNA virus belonging to the *Paramyxoviridae* family (genus *Respirovirus*, order *Mononegavirales*) [87]. It was first isolated in 1959 from cattle

with shipping fever and named "myxovirus shipping fever 4" (SF-4) [17, 88, 89]. BPIV-3 is now endemic, with three circulating genetic groups worldwide, named A, B, and C [90]. Infection with BPIV-3 usually leads to mild respiratory signs, such as fever, dry cough, nasal and ocular discharge, increased respiratory rate and dyspnoea [91, 92]. Infection of the upper respiratory tract can also lead to a transient immunosuppression, creating an opportunity for secondary bacterial superinfections [87], a component of calf enzootic pneumonia. Several vaccines are commercially available, often in association with BRSV [68].

2.9 Bovine viral diarrhea virus

BVDV is a single-stranded RNA virus belonging to the Flaviviridae family [93]. It is a member of the genus Pes*tivirus*, first discovered in North America during the 40 s' and later isolated in 1957 [94, 95]. Two different Pestivirus species are currently in circulation, Pestivirus A (formerly known as BVDV-1) and Pestivirus B (formerly known as BVDV-2) [93]. Infection with BVDV often manifests as respiratory and gastrointestinal disease, the latter being associated with diarrhoea and mucosal disease (when a cytopathic strain is involved), especially during persistent infections [96, 97]. BVDV induces lesions of mucosal (especially intestinal) and lymphoid tissues that can result in acute diarrhoea, thrombocytopenia and respiratory signs [98, 99]. Its main role during BRD is immunosuppressive, paving the way for subsequent superinfections by other viral or bacterial respiratory pathogens. Vaccine prophylaxis via maternally derived antibodies has been shown effective at protecting cows and newborn calves but efforts are still to be made to eradicate the disease [100].

2.10 Influenza D virus

Influenza D virus (IDV) is a single-stranded RNA virus belonging to the *Orthomyxoviridae* family (genus *Deltainfluenzavirus*, order *Articulavirales*). Like Influenza C (ICV), it has a segmented genome consisting of seven genomic segments, unlike Influenza A and B viruses (IAV and IBV) that harbour eight segments [29]. IDV was discovered in 2011, making it the most novel bovine respiratory pathogens to date [29]. Unlike the other genera of the *Orthomyxoviridae* family, IDV is most prevalently found in cattle, which is considered its primary host [101]. To a lesser extent, IDV can also infect small ruminants, swine and feral swine, camelids, horses and hedgehogs [102]. Several lines of evidence suggest that IDV can be zoonotic but to what extent is currently being investigated [101].

Different circulating IDV genotypes have been characterized through sequence analysis of the hemagglutinin

esterase-fusion (HEF) segment, the most prevalent being "D/OK" and "D/660" with divergent lineages present in Japan, Canada and the United States of America [8, 103, 104]. IDV also seems to undergo genetic reassortments among its different lineages which is a common feature of influenza viruses [8]. Pathogenic differences amongst the different circulating strains remain questionable as IDV can be isolated from both sick and healthy animals and is often found alongside other pathogens in cattle with BRD signs [8]. Calves experimentally infected with IDV display mild to moderate signs of repeated spontaneous coughing, abdominal dyspnoea with increased respiratory rates, and abnormal lung sounds [105]. Upon necropsy, the lung tissue reveals subacute bronchointerstitial pneumonia with neutrophils in bronchial lumens, neutrophilic and macrophagic alveolitis, as well as microscopic alveolar lesions [105]. A vaccine that confers partial protection in cattle was developed in a research study but has not been commercialized [106].

2.11 Other influenza viruses

The role of other influenza viruses in BRD still remains unclear to date. Natural infections of IAV virus in cattle have been reported, as well as few studies showing low seroprevalence of IAV infection in this species [107]. In addition, experimental challenges showed that cattle can develop moderate to severe clinical signs and seroconversion following IAV infection [107]. Despite all these pieces of evidence, cattle is not considered a host for IAV, unlike swine and avian species. Several reports described ICV detection in samples from sick cattle [108–110], suggesting its circulation in cattle population, similarly to IDV. However, studies of experimental infections in cattle are currently missing in literature and convincing proof of its pathogenicity and role in BRD in cattle are still to be provided.

3 Prevalence of coinfections in cattle herds: an interplay between viruses and bacteria

RT-qPCR commercial kits and decreased NGS costs have made the detection of multiple respiratory pathogens from clinical samples simpler and cost effective. Today, BRD is recognized as a polymicrobial disease with numerous studies acknowledging the high frequency of coinfections. 50.73% of nasal swabs taken over a fouryear period from Canadian cattle (n=883) showing respiratory signs were positive for at least two respiratory pathogens [8], supporting a 2018 study, that detected at least two pathogens in 41% of the nasal swabs (n=23) collected from steers during a respiratory outbreak in Brazil [111]. Bronchoalveolar lavages collected in Denmark from 46 healthy calves and 46 sick calves tested for respiratory pathogens revealed similar coinfecting pathogenic abundance. However, H. somni was the only pathogen that was positively associated to cattle with BRD [112]. In another study, lungs from Irish cattle with BRD were submitted for post-mortem examinations and dual infections were detected in 58% of lungs, with a high prevalence especially for M. haemolytica and H. somni coinfection [49]. The authors reported that P. multocida was the pathogen identified alone with the greatest frequency and the most frequently detected virus/bacteria coinfections were P. multocida/BPIV-3, H. somni/ BPIV-3, or H. somni/BRSV. Studies using metagenomics approaches on respiratory samples also confirmed that presence of multiple pathogens is more associated with illness than mono-infections. In a first study, the virome found in nasal swabs of 50 young dairy cattle with BRD was compared to 50 location-matched healthy control animals [30]. Viruses were detected in 68% and 16% of sick animals and healthy control animals, respectively. In addition, 38% of sick animals (versus 8% of controls) were infected with multiple respiratory viruses. Similar results were reported in another case-control study [110]. However, in another study that used a similar metagenomic approach, the authors failed in finding differences in terms of viral presence between sick and healthy animals in nasal swabs from feedlot cattle [31].

4 Impact of coinfections on respiratory pathology in cattle: what is the experimental evidence?

4.1 Viral and bacterial coinfections: the importance of primary viral infections preluding secondary bacterial superinfection

The occurrence of a primary viral infection followed by a secondary bacterial superinfection is the most common and well documented coinfection model of respiratory syndrome complex applied to cattle, swine [113], and humans [114]. Over the past 60 years, several studies have investigated the clinical ramifications of different bacterial and viral pathogenic interactions. The majority of the studies describes in vivo challenges during which young calves were inoculated with a viral pathogen followed by a bacterial superinfection a few days later. Most of the bacterial strains used belonged to the Pasteurellaceae family (M. haemolytica, P. multocida or H. somni), the classical etiological agents causing pneumonia in cattle. In two studies, M. bovis was concomitantly or subsequently inoculated after a viral strain. In this section, we comprehensively review the underlying mechanisms leading to enhanced pathogenicity during mixed respiratory infections in cattle. Table 1 summarizes the in vivo studies that were performed in calves to study the viral/ bacterial respiratory coinfections. The description of the scoring system used to describe the impact of coinfection in vivo is available as Additional file 1.

lable I in VIVO studie	s from the scienting lifera	iture performed on yo	ung calves to assess the l	mpact of virus/pacteria	COINTECTION ON BKU	
Reference	Primary viral challenge (route of infection and dose/animal)	Time between exposure to the two pathogens	Secondary bacterial challenge (route of infection and dose/ animal)	Main results of the clinical trials	Impact of the coinfection on BRD (score 1 to 4)	Study limitations
Collier et al. [115]	BoHV-1	3 days	M. haemolytica	Coinfected group: longer duration of illness	m	
Hamdy et al. [15]	BPIV-3	6 h	P. multocida/M. haemolytica	BPIV-3 group: no respira- tory disease, transient leu- kopenia Coinfected group: severe respiratory disease and pneumonic lesions	m	The animals were stressed, which could be a confound- ing factor
Saunders et al. [92] Trial 7	BPIV-3 (Intratracheal, 5 mL of 10 ⁶ TCID ₅₀ /mL)	30 days	P. multocida/M. haemolytica (Intratracheal, 10 mL of 10 ⁹ CFU/mL)	BPIV-3 group: slight febrile response and leukopenia, nasal discharge and cough Exposure to M. haemo- lytica and P. multocida one month later did not provoke illness	2	Small number of animals (2), lack of mono-infected controls
Saunders et al. [92] Trial 8	BPIV-3 (Intratracheal, 5 mL of 10 ⁶ TCID ₅₀ /mL)	Simultaneous	P. multocida/M. haemolytica (Intratracheal, 10 mL of 10 ⁹ CFU/mL)	BPIV-3 group: nasal discharge until day 3 Coinfected group: 40 °C fever and increased nasal discharge until day 11	m	Small number of animals (2), lack of non-infected controls
Baldwin et al. [116]	BPIV-3		M. haemolytica	Coinfected group: more severe respiratory symp- toms upon subsequent exposure to M. haemolytica	m	
Collier et al. [117]	BoHV-1 (Intratracheal)	30 days	M. haemolytica (Aerosol)	Coinfected group: bron- chopneumonia leading to the death of one calf	4	
Jericho et al. [118]	BoHV-1 (Aerosol, 10 ⁶ to 10 ¹⁰ TCID ₅₀ /mL)	3 to 4 days	<i>M. haemolytica</i> (Aerosol, 5.5 × 10 ⁵ –1.8 × 10 ¹⁰ CFU/ mL)	Coinfected group: signs of bronchopneumo- nia ~ 4 days after virus exposure <i>M. haemolytica</i> group: no clinical signs	m	Viral and bacterial shedding were determined only after exposure; unclear number of animal/group

(2022) 53:70

Table 1 (continued)						
Reference	Primary viral challenge (route of infection and dose/animal)	Time between exposure to the two pathogens	Secondary bacterial challenge (route of infection and dose/ animal)	Main results of the clinical trials	Impact of the coinfection on BRD (score 1 to 4)	Study limitations
*Al-Darraji et al. [120, 124, 165, 166]	BRSV (Transtracheal, 20 mL of 2:9 × 10 ⁴ PFU/mL)	3 and 5 days	<i>M. haemolytica</i> biotype A serotype 1 (Transtracheal, 5 mL of 3 × 10 ⁷ CFU/mL)	<i>M. haemolytica</i> group: reduced physical activity BRSV group: inactiv- ity, fever Coinfected group: inactivity, dry and intermittent cough, fever, increased respiratory rate, dyspnea, anonecaia, signs more pronounced in 5 day delayed group, loss of condition until the end of the experiment	4	
Yates et al. [119]	BoHV-1 (Aerosol, 10 ⁷ PFU)	4, 10, 20 and 30 days	<i>M. haemolytica</i> biotype A serotype 1 (Aerosol, 10 ⁶ PFU)	Coinfected group: higher fever, lung and pharyngeal lesions more severe in ani- mals with a 4-day delay	m	Lack of control groups (non- infected, mono-infected)
Carrière et al. [120]	BPIV-3 (Aerosol, 100 mL of $5 \times 10^4 \text{TClD}_{50}$)	4 and 7 days	<i>M. haemolytica</i> biotype A serotype 1 (Aerosol, 100 mL of 10 ¹² CFU)	All groups (BPIV-3, M. haemolytica and coin- fected): no difference in terms of lung lesions, increase in rectal tempera- ture and respiratory rate	2	
*Trigo et al. [124]	BRSV (Aerosol)	0, 3 and 6 days	M. haemolytica (Intranasal)	Virus or bacteria alone groups: mild clinical response BRSV + M. <i>haemolytica</i> superin- fected group: increased pulmonary lesions; mono-infected groups: fected group: higher rectal temperature compared to M. haemolytica group	m	
Potgieter et al. [121]	BVDV (Endobronchial inoculation)	5 days	<i>M. haemolytica</i> (Endobron- nchial inoculation)	BVDV group: fever, nasal discharge, cough <i>M.</i> <i>haemolytica</i> group: mild signs Coinfected group: severe fibrinopurulent bronchopneumonia and pleuritis	£	

Table 1 (continued)						
Reference	Primary viral challenge (route of infection and dose/animal)	Time between exposure to the two pathogens	Secondary bacterial challenge (route of infection and dose/ animal)	Main results of the clinical trials	Impact of the coinfection on BRD (score 1 to 4)	Study limitations
Potgieter et al. [129]	BRSV (Endobronchial inoculation, 10 ⁸ TCID ₅₀)	8 days	H. somni (Endobronchial inoculation, 10 ⁷ -10 ⁹ CFU)	BRSV group: no signs <i>H. somni</i> group: mild signs (fever, occasional cough and depression) Coinfected group 10° GFU: severe clinical signs (mor- tality, diffused pneumonic lesions); 10 ⁷ GFU: mild clinical signs, less extended lung lesions	4	
*Sharma et al. [125]	BRSV (Intranasal)	6 days	<i>M. haemolytica</i> biotype A serotype 1 (intranasal and intratracheal, 5 mL of 9 × 10 ⁷ CFU/mL)	Coinfected group: increased disease score, higher fever and higher mortality than both mono- infected groups	4	BRSV dose is not reported
Gånheim et al. [122]	BVDV (Intranasal, 2 mL of 10 ⁶ TClD ₅₀ /mL)	5 days	<i>M. haemolytica</i> (Intranasal, 10 mL of 5 × 10 ⁷ CFU/mL)	Mono-infected groups: a few calves had fever and depression Coinfected group: all animals had fever and mild to severe depression, one calf did not recover, slower bacte- rial clearance, duration of elevated APPs lasted longer in coinfected group than BVDV but similar in Mannheimid group	4	
Gershwin et al. [128]	BRSV (Aerosol, 5 mL of 10 ⁶ TCID ₅₀)	6 days	H. somni (Intratracheal, (10 mL of 10 ⁸ CFU)	BRSV group: no lung lesions <i>H. somni</i> group: limited lung lesions Coinfected group: higher magnitude and duration of <i>H.</i> <i>somni</i> in lungs, extended lung lesions	m	Pathogen replication profile in animals is missing
Prysliak et al. [126]	BVDV (Intranasal aerosol ⁷ , 4 mL of 10 PFU/mL)	4 days	<i>M. bovis</i> (Intratracheal, 4 mL of 1.5 × 10 ¹⁰ CFU)	BVDV group: no lung lesions nor clinical signs, rectal temperature spike at 8 dpi Coinfected group: no lung lesions nor clinical signs	2	

Table 1 (continued)						
Reference	Primary viral challenge (route of infection and dose/animal)	Time between exposure to the two pathogens	Secondary bacterial challenge (route of infection and dose/ animal)	Main results of the clinical trials	Impact of the coinfection on BRD (score 1 to 4)	Study limitations
Prysliak et al. [126]	BoHV-1 (Intranasal aerosol, 4 mL of 10 ⁵ TCID ₅₀ /mL)	4 days	M. bovis (Intratracheal, 4 mL of 1.5 × 10 ¹⁰ CFU)	Coinfected group: higher weight loss and rectal temperature, higher rate of <i>M. bovis</i> isolation from blood of coinfected ani- mals, more extensive lung lesions and shorter survival terms	4	Lack of BoHV-1 mono- infected group
Zhang et al. [130]	IDV (Intranasal, 10 mL of 10 ⁷ TCID ₅₀ /mL)	5 days	<i>M. haemolytica</i> biotype A serotype 1 (Intratracheal, 30 mL of 10 ⁹ CFU)	Coinfected group: decreased clinical score compared to <i>Mannhe-</i> <i>imia</i> group, retarded viral shedding compared to IDV group, <i>Mannheimia</i> group: slightly increased lung lesions	2	
Lion et al. [131]	IDV (Nebulization, 10 mL of IDV 10 ⁷ TCID ₅₀ /mL)	Simultaneous	<i>M. bovis</i> (Nebulization, 10 ¹⁰ CFU)	All infected groups: clinical signs present Coinfected group: earlier appearance and increased severity of clinical signs, gross lung lesions at 6 dpi	m	
*These studies were performe	d on a lamb model.					

Gaudino et al. Veterinary Research

Page 11 of 25

The first mixed infection studies were from 1960 to 1983, the majority being in vivo challenges using BPIV-3 or BoHV-1, the two viruses first associated with BRD, for the primary infection followed by inoculation with M. haemolytica [15, 92, 115-120]. In Jericho et al., two- to five-month-old calves exposed to aerosolized BoHV-1 then to M. haemolytica developed pneumonia when the delay between the viral and the bacterial infection was>4 days. Calves infected solely with M. haemolytica did not develop severe pneumonia, underlining the importance of a viral pre-infection for the development of severe respiratory disease [118]. In Yates et al., six- to eight-month-old calves were exposed to BoHV-1 before being subsequently infected with M. haemolytica four to thirty days later. Although fibrinous pneumonia and pleuritis occurred in all four groups, animals exposed to the virus and bacteria four days apart had the most extensive and severe pathologic findings including foci of necrosis and/or focal areas of mucopurulent exudate on mucosal surfaces of the upper respiratory tract, with the pharyngeal tonsillar surfaces being most severely affected. Moreover, fibrinous pneumonia in coinfected calves resulted in the persistence of the viral antigen in the respiratory tract despite the resolution of the necrotic virus-induced lesions [119]. In contrast, a study by Carrière et al., did not observe any synergy in calves coinfected with the same pathogens, noting only mild lung lesions in all infected groups [120]. Similar findings were published by Saunders et al., where calves infected with BPIV-3 followed by different Pasteurellaceae species did not display increased respiratory disease severity, except increased nasal discharge [92].

Other experiments noted enhanced clinical signs when animals were pre-exposed to BVDV or BRSV before M. haemolytica or H. somni bacteria [121-126]. In Potgieter et al., two groups of six-month-old calves were inoculated at day 0 with either BVDV or *M. haemolytica* while a third coinfected group was inoculated first with BVDV and the subsequent bacterial pathogen 5 days later [121]. The authors reported pneumonic lesions reaching 2 to 15% of the total lung volume in the BVDV and M. haemolytica groups while the coinfected group developed severe fibrinopurulent bronchopneumonia and pleuritis comprising 40% to 75% of the total lung volume. In Gånheim et al., nine- to eighteen-month-old calves inoculated with either BVDV or M. haemolytica or coinfected with BVDV at day 0 and M. haemolytica 5 days later all had increased body temperature and depression, but the coinfected group had the most severe clinical signs with some animals not able to fully recover postexperimentation. The authors reported that both monoand coinfected groups had similar magnitudes of acute phase proteins (AAPs) responses, particularly fibrinogen, haptoglobin and serum amyloid A, but the duration of elevated APPs expression was significantly longer in the BVDV/*M. haemolytica* group than in the BVDV group, reflecting the duration of clinical signs [122].

The first in vivo report of BRSV experimental infection in combination with Pasteurellaceae strains was actually performed in four-week-old lambs mono- or coinfected with BRSV or *M. haemolytica* at the same time. Pneumonic lesions were more frequent, extensive, and severe in coinfected lambs than in lambs inoculated with either agent alone. The authors postulated that BRSV compromised the lungs through the formation of lesions, promoting *M. haemolytica* establishment and subsequently, more severe pneumonic lesions than it could produce alone [127]. In the same animal model, similar findings were reported by Trigo et al. [124]. Later, in Gershwin et al., 9-month-old calves inoculated with a virulent strain of BRSV and H. somni 6 days later demonstrated significant mean clinical score differences compared to the groups infected with a single pathogen alone. Necropsy revealed severe bilateral consolidation in the anterior ventral lung lobes only in the coinfected group [128]. These results are in accordance to a similar coinfection study where calves pre-infected with BRSV and H. somni eight days later showed significantly more severe clinical signs and pneumonic lesions than animals inoculated with one pathogen alone [129].

In Prysliak et al., the pathogenicity of *M. bovis* was studied in six- to eight-month-old calves pre-exposed to BVDV or BoHV-1. Animals challenged with BoHV-1 prior to *M. bovis* inoculation 4 days later displayed weight loss, increased body temperature, and significantly shorter survival. At necropsy, the lungs of the BoHV-1/*M. bovis* group had extensive areas of bronchopneumonia, consolidation, and multifocal white nodules containing caseous material, whereas those from the *M. bovis* group displayed small consolidations without white nodules. No body weight loss was recorded for the BVDV/*M. bovis* group and there were no typical *M. bovis* pneumonia lesions found at necropsy [126].

As IDV was recently discovered to be a cattle pathogen, researchers started to investigate its possible role in BRD onset, assessing if IDV infection could worsen respiratory signs when co-inoculated with other pathogens in a manner similar to the viruses mentioned above. Four- to six-month-old calves infected with IDV at day 0 and *M. haemolytica* at day 5 had similar overall clinical scores as calves infected with IDV alone, while calves only infected with *M. haemolytica* had more severe gross lung lesions compared to the negative control group. *M. haemolytica* severe bronchopneumonia signs could not be reproduced in the coinfected calves suggesting that IDV and *M. haemolytica* coinfection does not alter the respiratory pathology of calves [130]. In another study, six-week-old calves were infected with either IDV, *M. bovis*, or IDV and *M. bovis* together [131]. Although the *M. bovis* group did not present bronchopneumonia and caseonecrotic lesions typical of *M. bovis* infection, the authors reported that the coinfected group had a shorter time span of presented clinical signs and significantly increased clinical score, as well as increased severity of trachea and lung macroscopic and microscopic lesions. Starting at 2 days post-infection, upregulated IFN γ levels were found in bronchoalveolar lavages from the coinfected group, reflecting increased leukocyte recruitment in the airway lumen. The authors also noted that *M. bovis* colonization of the lower respiratory tract was aided by the viral infection.

4.2 In vitro approaches to further elucidate viral and bacterial coinfection pathogenicity mechanisms

Several studies attempt to explain the mechanisms underlying the enhanced pathology often observed during coinfection, mostly through in vitro approaches. One of the most well studied mechanisms of bacterial superinfection is the enhancement of bacterial adherence resulting from prior viral infection. In Sudaryatma et al., trachea, bronchus and lung primary cell lines were infected with BRSV before *P. multocida* [132]. The authors noticed that P. multocida adherence was greatly increased in pre-infected cells derived from the lower respiratory tract compared to cells that were not previously exposed to BRSV, together with an up-regulation of IL-6 mRNA expression. The same authors later reported an increased accumulation of the platelet-activating factor receptor (PAFR) in vitro and also demonstrated that P. multocida adherence depended on PAFR expression [133]. This work highlights a possible mechanism of bacterial superinfection caused by P. multocida following BRSV infection, that is often observed in field conditions [8]. In another recent work, the same authors observed an increase in *P. multocida* adherence following BCoV infection, noticing an increase in intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and PAFR, thus highlighting that the same mechanism could be shared among other BRD viruses [134]. In Agnes et al., infections with BRSV and superinfections with H. somni were carried out in BAT2 alveolar type 2 cell model [135]. The coinfection resulted in enhanced cytotoxicity for alveolar epithelial cells, increased transmigration of H. somni across the alveolar cell barrier, and matrix metalloproteinases MMP1 and MMP3 increased expression and activity. This could explain the observed results in their previous in vivo experiment, where they showed that H. somni and BRSV act synergistically in vivo to cause more severe bovine respiratory disease than either agent alone [128]. The same authors also reported, that BAT2 cell treatment with *H. somni* infected supernatants up-regulated antiviral genes and dramatically reduced a subsequent BRSV replication, showing once again that the timing of each pathogen infection is an important factor for the overall impact on pathology [136]. Finally, in McGill et al., the authors observed that in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC), coinfection with BRSV and *M. haemolytica* exacerbated IL-17 production, which plays a critical role in neutrophil recruitment and inflammation, a characteristic trait of *M. haemolytica* severe pasteurellosis in calves [137].

4.3 Viral coinfections: a less explored model of increased pathogenesis in BRD

The "viral infection followed by bacterial superinfection" model seems to be the most frequent and best described dynamic in cattle herds. There is currently very little information about viral superinfections in BRD. After an exhaustive literature search, we found three in vivo studies investigating the impact of a primary viral infection followed by a second viral infection [138–140]. BVDV was used in the three studies as the primary viral infection, likely due to its immunosuppressive nature [141]. We also identified two other studies investigating the impact of simultaneous BRSV and BVDV coinfection [142, 143]. All in vivo viral/viral respiratory coinfection calf studies are summarized in Table 2.

In Pollreisz et al., nine- to twelve-month-old calves simultaneously infected with BRSV and BVDV developed more severe clinical signs, including fever and diarrhoea, and lung lesions than their mono-infected counterparts. In addition, coinfected calves had a longer duration of viral shedding in nasal secretions and higher infectious titres compared to the groups infected with BRSV or BVDV alone [142]. An in vitro study performed on alveolar macrophages demonstrated that concomitant infection with BRSV and BVDV suppressed alveolar macrophage functionality [144], potentially explaining the increased lung lesions observed in Pollreisz et al. [142]. In contrast, Elvander et al. reported no change in clinical signs in three-month-old calves concurrently infected with BVDV and BRSV [138].

In Risalde et al., eight-month-old calves pre-inoculated with a non-cytopathic BVDV strain followed by BoHV-1 inoculation twelve days later had more intense clinical signs and lesions, correlating with greater TNF α secretion and reduced IL-10 production than animals inoculated with BoHV-1 alone. Delayed IFN γ production and low IL-12 levels were also observed in coinfected animals [145]. In a following paper, the same authors

Reference	Primary viral challenge (route of infection and dose/animal)	Time between exposure to the two pathogens	Secondary viral challenge (route of infection and dose/animal)	Main results of the clinical In trials (s	npact of the oinfection on BRD score 1 to 4)	Study limitations
Pollreisz et al. [142]	BVDV-1 (Intranasal and intratracheal, 5 mL of 2 × 10 ⁸ TCID ₅₀)	Simultaneous, 1 day and 2 days	BRSV (Intranasal and intratracheal, 5 mL of 10 ⁶ TCID ₅₀ /mL)	BVDV group: mild signs 4 BRSV group: serous nasal discharge, rapid and shallow respiration and depression Coinfected group: excessive serous or mucopurulent nasal discharge, rapid breathing, discharge, rapid breathing, eithoea, severe depres- sion, one calf had to be euthanized		
Brodersen et al. [143]	BVDV	Simultaneous	BRSV	Coinfected group: increased 3 clinical signs, higher viral shedding and increased lung lesions than infection with either virus alone		
Elvander et al. [138]	BVDV (non-cytopathogenic) (Intratracheal, 10 ⁵ TCID ₅₀ / mL)	Simultaneous	BRSV (Intratracheal, BRSV group: 10 mL of 10^4 TCID ₅₀ / mL, coinfected group: 10 mL of BRSV 10^5 TCID ₅₀ / mL)	No increase in clinical signs 2 in coinfected group		Lack of BVDV group; different BRSV dose in mono-infected and coinfected groups
Risalde et al. [145]	BVDV-1 (non-cytopatho- genic) (Intranasal, 1 mL/ nostril of 10 ⁵ TCID ₅₀ /mL)	12 days	BoHV-1.1 (Intranasal,1 mL/ nostril of BoHV-1.1 × 10 ⁷ TCID ₅₀ /mL)	Appearance of clinical signs 3 in all groups but increase in severity in coinfected group, increase in pro- inflammatory cytokines and APPs in coinfected group (IL-1 g) and more severe inflammatory lesions		Lack of BVDV group
Ridpath et al. [140]	BVDV-2a (Intranasal aerosol, 4 mL of 10 ⁶ TCID _{so} /mL)	3, 6 and 9 days	BCoV (Intranasal aerosol)	BCoV group: pyrexia but 3 no gross lesions Coin- fected group: higher fever, lung lesions present in all infected groups but more pronounced in 6-day delay group; peripheral blood lymphocytes count returned to baseline in 6-day delay group but not in 9-day delay group		BCoV dose is not reported

Reference	Primary viral challenge (route of infection and dose/animal)	Time between exposure to the two pathogens	Secondary viral challenge (route of infection and dose/animal)	Main results of the clinical trials	Impact of the coinfection on BRD (score 1 to 4)
Ridpath et al. [140]	BCoV (Intranasal aerosol)	3 days	BVDV-2a (Intranasal aerosol, 4 mL of 10 ⁶ TCID ₅₀ /mL)	BCoV group: pyrexia but no gross lesions Coinfected group: pyrexia and lung lesions in some coinfected calves consisting in pale, firm foci randomly scattered throughout the lungs but particularly obvious in the ventral caudal lobes	2

BCoV dose is not reported

Study limitations

Table 2 (continued)

described important lung vascular alterations produced by fibrin microthrombi and platelet aggregations within the blood vessels that were earlier and more severe in the BVDV and BoHV-1 coinfected group, suggesting that coinfection facilitates a procoagulant environment modulated by inflammatory mediators such as significantly decreased iNOS expression released by pulmonary macrophages [146]. In two subsequent studies, the same authors reported that coinfected animals displayed inhibited CD8+and CD4+T lymphocyte responses against BoHV-1, suggesting that BVDV pre-infection could impair local cell-mediated immunity to secondary respiratory pathogens [139] and provoke thymic lesions that temporarily downregulate Foxp3 lymphocytes and TGFβ expression and medullary CD8+T cells development [147].

In Ridpath et al., BVDV and BCoV dual infection studies in vivo were performed using different sequences and delays of superinfection to assess pathogenicity. Calves inoculated with BVDV followed by BCoV 6 days later displayed more pronounced clinical signs and lung lesions compared to 3 days of delay, demonstrating that the timing of the secondary infection along with the pathogen itself plays an important role in coinfection pathogenesis [140]. In the same study, calves were also inoculated with BCoV followed by BVDV 3 days later but clinical signs and lung lesions were not as pronounced as in animals pre-infected with BVDV followed by BCoV challenge, questioning the role of BCoV as BRD initiator.

The in vivo studies described above support the notion that BVDV pre-infection aggravates the respiratory pathology induced by other viruses in a manner similar to bacterial superinfections, as previously discussed above. What the field lacks is data concerning other viral coinfections involved in BRD. For example, BRSV, also known to modulate host immune responses [148], could play a similar role, despite the absence of experimental in vivo evidence during respiratory coinfections. The small number of available studies on viral superinfections limits our understanding of the role of viruses in priming the immune system before causing a subsequent viral superinfection.

4.4 Bacterial coinfections: can bacteria initiate BRD without the presence of primary triggers?

Contrary to viral/bacterial coinfections, bacterial coinfection models have been rarely explored in BRD studies. Multiple bacterial respiratory pathogens are often simultaneously detected from sick animals [8]. Despite this, respiratory bacteria interactions remain unclear. Some are part of the normal microbial flora of the upper respiratory tract of healthy animals (notably *Pasteurellaceae* family members) but are also often isolated from animals with respiratory signs [8, 49]. Different experimental in vivo infections with single bacterial challenge have been carried out throughout the years in calf models [35, 52, 149]. However, reproducing classical bronchopneumonia signs has been highly variable. Inoculation of the A3 serotype of P. multocida in calves induced clinical signs and lung lesions [35, 150, 151] whereas buffalo are susceptible to the A1 serotype [37]. In contrast, other studies reported milder lesions and overall pathology [152]. Animals experimentally infected with M. haemolytica alone either fail to develop bronchopneumonia [118, 120, 121, 130], or manifest severe clinical illness and reach end-point limits during the study [149, 153]. Such confounding study differences could be due to intrinsic characteristics of the animals (immune status, age and breed) as well as differences in the bacterial strains that are not yet known and therefore, could not be accounted for the highly controlled experiments.

We retrieved two in vivo studies from the literature investigating the impact of dual bacterial infection in calves. In Houghton and Gorlay, calves simultaneously inoculated with M. bovis and M. haemolytica were more severely affected than animals inoculated with only one pathogen. Vast differences were seen during necropsy with coinfected animals displaying 34 to 55% of lung consolidation compared to only 1-6% for calves from the *M*. bovis group and 0-1% for calves from the M. haemolytica group [154]. Subsequently, the same authors performed different dual bacterial challenges in gnotobiotic calves [155]. Calves were first inoculated with *M. bovis* followed by M. haemolytica one or two days later. Two animals also received a M. haemolytica strain that was cultured for 18 h previously to the challenge and two others received a strain that was cultured for 6 h. No clinical signs were reported for the calf infected with only M. haemolytica, whereas calves that were inoculated with M. haemolytica 2 days later displayed severe illness and 16% of lung consolidation at necropsy. However, calves that received the second pathogen one day later were more ill compared to the group inoculated 2 days later. In addition, high lung consolidation (50-64%) was reported for this group. Two calves inoculated with M. haemolytica then M. bovis two days later only developed mild signs without pneumonia. Similar challenges were performed on conventionally reared calves, with simultaneous inoculation of M. bovis and M. haemolytica, or, inoculation by M. bovis first followed by *M. haemolytica* one day later. Calves in the *M.* haemolytica group did not display any lesions or illness and only a few animals in the coinfected group had fever and 6–8% of lung consolidation at necropsy. In contrast, calves first dosed with M. bovis followed by M. haemolytica one day later had severe respiratory signs, resulting in the death of one calf and high lung consolidation (28 to

Table 3 In vivo studies f	rom the scientific literatur	e performed on young	g calves to study bacterial	coinfections impact on BF	Q	
Reference	Primary bacterial challenge (route of infection and dose/animal)	Time between exposure to the two pathogens	Secondary bacterial challenge (route of infection and dose/animal)	Main results of the clinical trials	Impact of the coinfection on BRD (score 1 to 4)	Study limitations
Houghton and Gorlay, [154]	<i>M. bovis</i> (Intranasal)	Simultaneous	M. hæmolytica (Intranasal)	Dually inoculated animals were more severely affected than animals inoculated with one pathogen <i>M.</i> <i>bovis</i> group: 1–6% lung consolidation <i>M. haemolytica</i> group: 0–1% lung consolida- tion Coinfected animals displayed 34 to 55% of lung consolidation	m	
Gourlay et al. [155] (gnotobi- otic calves)	<i>M. bovis</i> (Intranasal and intratracheal, 6 × 10 ⁸ CFU)	1 day and 2 days	<i>M. haemolytica</i> (Intra- nasal and intratracheal, 7 × 10 ⁸ CFU cultured for 6 h or for 18 h before inocula- tion)	Mannheimia group: no illness or gross lesions Coin- fected group: severe clinical illness and 16% of lung con- solidation at necropsy with 2-days delay, severe illness and high area of lung con- solidation in dually infected calves (50–64%) inoculated with 1-day delay between pathogens, increased lesions when using 6 instead of 18 h culture of Mannheimia	m	Lack of <i>M. bovis</i> group
Gourlay et al. [155] (gnotobi- otic calves)	<i>M. haemolytica</i> (Intra- nasal and intratracheal, 7×10^8 CFU cultured for 6 h or for 18 h before inocula- tion)	2 days	<i>M. bovis</i> (Intranasal and intratracheal, 6 × 10 ⁸ CFU)	No significant increase in pneumonia in coinfected animals, mild signs in all groups	2	Lack of <i>M. bovis</i> group
Gourlay et al. [155] (Conven- tionally reared calves)	<i>M. bovis</i> (Intranasal and intratracheal, 6 × 10 ⁸ CFU)	Simultaneous	<i>M. haemolytica</i> (Intra- nasal and intratracheal, 7 × 10 ⁸ CFU cultured for 6 h or for 18 h before inocula- tion)	Mannheimia group: no illness and no gross lung lesions Coinfected group: only few calves displayed fever and clinical signs and 6–8% of lung consolidation at necropsy, the remaining calves displayed no clinical signs	2.5	

Gaudino et al. Veterinary Research

(2022) 53:70

(continued)	
m	
ø	
9	
Ца	

Reference	Primary bacterial challenge (route of infection and dose/animal)	Time between exposure to the two pathogens	Secondary bacterial challenge (route of infection and dose/animal)	Main results of the clinical trials	Impact of the coinfection on BRD (score 1 to 4)	Study limitations
Gourlay et al. [155] (Conven- tionally reared calves)	<i>M. bovis</i> (Intranasal and intratracheal, 6 × 10 ⁸ CFU)	1 day	<i>M. haemolytica</i> (Intra- nasal and intratracheal, <i>7</i> × 10 ⁸ CFU cultured for 6 h or for 18 h before inocula- tion)	<i>M. bovis</i> group: moderate clinical signs and reduced extent of lung consolidation (27–40%) Coinfected group: severe clinical signs resulting in the death of one calf and higher extent of lung con- solidation (28 to 60%)	4	

60%). The *M. bovis* group showed moderate clinical signs and less lung consolidation (27-40%). These data underline the relationship between coinfection and the development of severe pneumonia [155]. This is in agreement with another study, where the death of two gnotobiotic calves was reported 24 h followed simultaneous inoculation with *M. bovis* and *M. haemolytica* [156]. Table 3 summarizes the calf in vivo studies on bacterial respiratory coinfections.

4.5 Bacterial coinfection studies: synergy or antagonism?

Currently, few in vitro studies investigating the interactions among different bacteria exist. In Corbeil et al., different bacterial strains (P. multocida, M. haemolytica and H. somni) isolated from bovine microbial flora were grown together to examine whether they would inhibit or enhance their growth [157]. The authors discovered that the majority of microbial strains could enhance the growth of the tested pathogens, especially those from the Micrococcus, Corynebacterium and Staphylococcus genera, whereas a discrete number of isolates did not affect their growth. In contrast, only some Bacillus genus strains could inhibit Pasteurellaceae growth. In Bavananthasivam et al., the authors tested growth competition between P. multocida and M. haemolytica and found that each showed similar growth when cultured together but upon physical separation by a membrane, M. haemolytica growth was inhibited by a contact-proximity mechanism [158], similar to what was already observed for Bibersteinia trehalosi in sheep pneumonia [159], hypothesizing that the inhibition occurred though similar molecular mechanisms. Inhibition of M. haemolytica by probiotic bacteria was also demonstrated in vitro [160]. Since previous studies reported that P. multocida can be isolated from the lower respiratory tract from calves experimentally infected with H. somni [161] but also during natural cases of BRD [49], the co-existence of *H. somni* and *P.* multocida in polymicrobial film was investigated in vitro and in vivo [162]. In the in vitro model, both pathogens were shown to co-exist and to contribute to biofilm formation. Two eight-week-old calves were then intratracheally challenged with 109 CFU of H. somni so that lung tissues could be analysed for polymicrobial formation. Both pathogens were detected by PCR in the lungs, supporting the hypothesis that H. somni and P. multocida can cohabit in polymicrobial films in vivo. In another study, the carriage of H. somni, P. multocida and M. haemolytica was assessed by qPCR from nasal swabs collected from healthy beef calves (n = 60) during a 75-day study [163]. Co-carriage of two or three bacterial species was detected in 47 animals but P. multocida remained the most prevalent during the entire study, either as cocarriage with *H. somni* occurring the most frequently followed by *M. haemolytica* and lastly with *H. somni*. Taking all the experimental evidence into consideration, we cannot conclude whether a synergistic or antagonistic effect is present among different *Pasteurellae* bacterial strains. Further studies are needed to investigate the interactions among these pathogens in the context of BRD.

5 Discussion

In this review, we consolidated experimental evidence describing coinfection mechanisms potentiating pneumonia aetiology in cattle. The most studied mechanism of BRD onset in calves is the primary viral infection followed by a secondary bacterial superinfection model, with evidence suggesting it to be one of the most common scenarios triggering BRD. Several in vivo experiments showed that a primary viral infection impacts M. haemolytica superinfection. The viruses that seem to enhance secondary bacterial infection the most include BRSV, BVDV and BoHV-1 with mean scores higher than 3. BPIV-3 received a mean score of 2.67, also indicating a close association. Despite this, no solid conclusions can be drawn due to the very limited number of undertaken studies. In addition, two of the BRSV studies were performed in lambs, not in calves. A few studies using P. multocida, H. somni and M. bovis as bacterial secondary infection could be retrieved, with the highest impact score for BoHV-1 followed by *M. bovis* (mean score of 4) and BRSV followed by H. somni (mean score of 3.5). Multiple in vitro studies showed that viral priming increased bacterial adherence and colonization of the respiratory tract, suggesting a possible mechanism underlying the onset of bronchopneumonia in cattle. This could explain why viruses and bacteria are often co-detected in the respiratory tract of field animals with BRD signs. A limited number of viral coinfection studies (n=4) was also retrieved, showing that a primary viral infection increases the pathogenicity of a secondary viral infection. Despite this, only the role of BVDV has been explored throughout the years for viral coinfections. The mechanisms utilized by other viral pathogens such as BCoV and IDV remain unclear. One of the most important questions concerning the dynamics of bacterial derived respiratory infection is whether contagious spread between animals stems from bacterial replication in the lungs or whether said bacteria is already present in the nasopharynx, accessing the lower respiratory tract when immune responses are impaired from a primary trigger (the secondary bacterial superinfection model).

A few studies have attempted to address this question. Young bulls (n = 112) arriving at a fattening facility were divided into different pens and observed for 40 days. Nasal swabs and transtracheal aspirations were collected

to detect M. haemolytica and to study the clonal diversity between the upper and lower respiratory tracts. During the BRD outbreaks that occurred at the facility, M. haemolytica was frequently isolated from sick animals with 75 bulls testing positive during the study. Among these, M. haemolytica was cultured from transtracheal aspirates from 23 asymptomatic bulls. Pulse field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) analysis revealed a moderate agreement in clone diversity within nasal swabs and transtracheal aspirates within the same animals but high within-pen diversity, indicating that the disease was due to predisposing triggers enabling the bacteria to overcome the animal immune system and the normal flora. Despite this, the authors observed horizontal gene transfers from bulls in the nearest pen as well [24]. High genetic diversity within the same feedlot was also observed in other studies for *M. haemolytica* [164] and for P. multocida [165]. These results suggest that BRD episodes associated with these pathogens are probably due to predisposing factors overcoming the normal flora than the spread of a contagious clone among animals within a herd. Young pre-weaned calves recently arrived to feeder farms are exposed to high stress levels, likely the most important trigger to BRD aetiology.

A separate evaluation should be made for *M. bovis*, as this pathogen is not part of the commensal flora of healthy animals. In experimental conditions, a primary *M. bovis* challenge followed by *M. haemolytica* one day later increased the severity of illness compared to calves singly challenged or simultaneously challenged with both pathogens [155]. The conditions of the experimental infection do not represent the reality of animals in the field within a herd (the pathogens are challenged intratracheally with a high infectious dose), however these data suggest that *M. bovis* could potentially initiate BRD development.

Different in vitro studies tried to elucidate bacterial pathogenic interactions; however, mechanisms of synergy or antagonism among the studied bacterial strains remain unknown as there are too few studies, leaving a gap in knowledge about the polymicrobial aetiology of BRD.

In this study, we developed a scoring system to evaluate the impact of coinfection on overall cattle BRD pathology. This scoring system is meant to generalize the effects of specific pathogen pairs during coinfection with the caveat that there are major limits obfuscating the true impact, including poorly described control groups in certain studies and differences in induced respiratory pathology upon challenge of the same pathogen among all the studies. For example, inoculation with *M. haemolytica* induced BRD in some studies but not others, making it difficult to compare the true impact of *M. haemolytica* during coinfection. High heterogeneity across studies leads to additional difficulties when comparing results as parameters considerably change from one study to another, notably the infection route or

from one study to another, notably the infection route or pathogen dose, the assays used to confirm infection and seroconversion, and the age and breed of the animals. In addition, in vivo studies assessing the impact of coinfections among respiratory pathogens in cattle are limited, as are the number of animals used per study. One way to control for error is by using specific-pathogen free (SPF) calves, negating confounding effects associated with animals previously exposed to different pathogens and immunologically primed to combat infection, potentially resulting in altered pathological changes upon challenge.

Few studies (n=7) have attempted to study coinfections using alternative models to animal testing. The onset of new in vitro, ex vivo or in-vivo-like models in recent years could represent a valid replacement for primary studies before confirmation in animals. In particular, primary cell cultures, tissue cultures, organ slices and organoids provide a good start to change, both addressing the 3 R's principle (Reduction, Replacement and Refinement) and expanding the global scientific field (Figure 1).

Over the course of the 20th and the twenty-first century, the impact of different pathogens on BRD has changed. On one side, the development of prophylactic measures has helped control some infectious diseases in cattle, as notably shown by the eradication program for IBR and BVDV [86]. On the other hand, new emerging pathogens continue to appear, probably due to intensified cattle farming from the twentieth century like the appearance of high-density animal feedlots. New pathogens potentially involved in BRD that were not considered before (i.e. Influenza D virus) can be quickly discovered through NGS [166], potentially leading the way for an early risk assessment surveillance program in which cattle herds are monitored for emerging pathogens in order to prevent their circulation. New techniques like NGS facilitate studies on respiratory pathogenic interactions with the surrounding normal bacterial species as well as the mechanisms underlying the pathogenesis of respiratory disease in cattle. During surveillance, longitudinal studies could also be conducted to observe the dynamics of respiratory outbreaks caused by mixed infections, providing insight about the timing of pathogen introduction during BRD development (Figure 2).

Supplementary Information

The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-022-01086-1.

Additional file 1. Description of the scoring system criteria to evaluate the impact of coinfections on BRD.

Authors' contributions

MG conceptualized the work, collected the data on relevant literature, drafted the article and generated the figures. BN proofread English and revised the manuscript. MD and GM contributed to the conception and the critical revision of the article and funding acquisition. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This study was funded by the French National Agency for Research, project ANR-15-CE35-0005 "FLUD" and ICRAD-ERA NET co-fund ANR-21-ICRD-0007 "Deciphering the role of influenza D virus in bovine and human respiratory diseases in Europe". Maria Gaudino is supported by a PhD scholarship funded by the Département Santé Animale (INRAE) and the Région Occitanie.

Availability of data and materials

Data sharing not applicable to this article as no datasets were generated or analysed during the current study.

Declarations

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Received: 16 March 2022 Accepted: 11 July 2022 Published online: 06 September 2022

References

- Cho Y, Yoon KJ (2014) An overview of calf diarrhea infectious etiology, diagnosis, and intervention. J Vet Sci 15:1. https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs. 2014.15.1.1
- Blakebrough-Hall C, McMeniman JP, González LA (2020) An evaluation of the economic effects of bovine respiratory disease on animal performance, carcass traits, and economic outcomes in feedlot cattle defined using four BRD diagnosis methods. J Anim Sci 98:skaa005. https://doi. org/10.1093/jas/skaa005
- Marshall BM, Levy SB (2011) Food animals and antimicrobials: Impacts on human health. Clin Microbiol Rev 24:718–733. https://doi.org/10. 1128/CMR.00002-11
- Apley M (2006) Bovine respiratory disease: pathogenesis, clinical signs, and treatment in lightweight calves. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 22:399–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvfa.2006.03.009
- Caswell JL (2014) Failure of respiratory defenses in the pathogenesis of bacterial pneumonia of cattle. Vet Pathol 51:393–409. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0300985813502821
- Smith DR (2020) Risk factors for bovine respiratory disease in beef cattle. Anim Heal Res Rev 21:149–152. https://doi.org/10.1017/S146625232 0000110
- Hodgson PD, Aich P, Stookey J, Popowych Y, Potter A, Babiuk L, Griebel JP (2012) Stress significantly increases mortality following a secondary bacterial respiratory infection. Vet Res 43:21. https://doi.org/10.1186/ 1297-9716-43-21
- Saegerman C, Gaudino M, Savard C, Broes A, Ariel O, Meyer G, Ducatez MF (2021) Influenza D virus in respiratory disease in Canadian, province of Québec, cattle: Relative importance and evidence of new reassortment between different clades. Transbound Emerg Dis 69:1227–1245. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.14085
- 9. Lehenbauer TW (2014) Control of BRD in large dairy calf populations. Anim Heal Res Rev 15:184–185. https://doi.org/10.1017/S146625231 400022X

- Chamorro MF, Palomares RA (2020) Bovine respiratory disease vaccination against viral pathogens: modified-live versus inactivated antigen vaccines, intranasal versus parenteral, what is the evidence? Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 36:461. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CVFA.2020. 03.006
- 11. Mosier DA, Confer AW, Panciera RJ (1989) The evolution of vaccines for bovine pneumonic pasteurellosis. Res Vet Sci 47:1–10
- 12. Shoo MK (1989) Experimental bovine pneumonic pasteurellosis: a review. Vet Rec 124:141–144. https://doi.org/10.1136/VR.124.6.141
- Gale C, Smith HR (1958) Studies on shipping fever of cattle. I. The experimental exposure of cattle with various cultures of Pasteurella. Am J Vet Res 19:815–817
- 14. Hamdy AH, Morrill CC, Hoyt HH (1965) Shipping fever of cattle. North Cent Reg Res Bull 165:1–19
- Hamdy ÄH, Trapp AL, Gale C, King NB (1963) Experimental transmission of shipping fever in calves. Am J vet Res 24:287–294
- Yates WDG (1982) A review of infectious bovine rhinotracheitis, shipping fever pneumonia and viral-bacterial synergism in respiratory disease of cattle. Can J Comp Med 46:225
- Reisinger RC, Heddleston KL, Manthei CA (1959) A myxovirus (SF-4) associated with shipping fever of cattle. J Am Vet Med Assoc 135:147–152
- Woods GT, Sibinovic K, Segre D, Thurmon JC (1964) Isolation and transmission studies with bovine parainfluenza-3 virus. Am J Vet Res 25:1021–1026
- Hodgins DC, Conlon JA, Shewen PE (2014) Respiratory viruses and bacteria in cattle. Polymicrob Dis. https://doi.org/10.1128/9781555817 947.CH12
- Sorenson WG, Siegel PD, Olenchock SA, May JJ, Pratt DS (1992) Fungi in aerosols of hay associated with respiratory distress in dairy cattle. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 30:353–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/0964-8305(92)90039-Q
- Forbes A (2018) Lungworm in cattle: epidemiology, pathology and immunobiology. Livestock 23:59–66. https://doi.org/10.12968/live.2018. 23.2.59
- 22. Bateman KG, Martin SW, Shewen PE, Menzies PI (1990) An evaluation of antimicrobial therapy for undifferentiated bovine respiratory disease. Can Vet J 31:689
- 23. Confer AW (2009) Update on bacterial pathogenesis in BRD. Anim Heal Res Rev 10:145–148. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1466252309990193
- Timsit E, Christensen H, Bareille N, Seegers H, Bisgaard M, Assié S (2013) Transmission dynamics of *Mannheimia haemolytica* in newly-received beef bulls at fattening operations. Vet Microbiol 161:295–304. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.VETMIC.2012.07.044
- Arcangioli MA, Duet A, Meyer G, Dernburg A, Bézille P, Poumarat F, Le Grand D (2008) The role of *Mycoplasma bovis* in bovine respiratory disease outbreaks in veal calf feedlots. Vet J 177:89–93. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.TVJL.2007.03.008
- 26. Friis NF (1980) Mycoplasma dispar as a causative agent in pneumonia of calves. Acta Vet Scand 21:34. https://doi.org/10.1186/BF03546898
- Thomas A, Ball H, Dizier I, Trolin A, Mainil J, Linden A, Ball H, Bell C (2002) Isolation of mycoplasma species from the lower respiratory tract of healthy cattle and cattle with respiratory disease in Belgium. Vet Rec 151:472–476. https://doi.org/10.1136/VR.151.16.472
- Ellis JA (2009) Update on viral pathogenesis in BRD. Anim Heal Res Rev 10:149–153. https://doi.org/10.1017/S146625230999020X
- Hause BM, Ducatez M, Collin EA, Ran Z, Liu R, Sheng Z, Armien A, Kaplan B, Chakravarty S, Hoppe AD, Webby RJ, Simonson RR, Li F (2013) Isolation of a novel swine influenza virus from Oklahoma in 2011 which is distantly related to human influenza C viruses. PLoS Pathog 9:e1003176. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003176
- Ng TFF, Kondov NO, Deng X, Van Eenennaam A, Neibergs HL, Delwart E (2015) A metagenomics and case-control study to identify viruses associated with bovine respiratory disease. J Virol 89:5340–5349. https://doi. org/10.1128/jvi.00064-15
- Mitra N, Cernicchiaro N, Torres S, Li F, Hause BM (2016) Metagenomic characterization of the virome associated with bovine respiratory disease in feedlot cattle identified novel viruses and suggests an etiologic role for influenza D virus. J Gen Virol 97:1771–1784. https://doi.org/10. 1099/jgv.0.000492

- 32. Valarcher JF, Taylor G (2007) Bovine respiratory syncytial virus infection. Vet Res 38:153–180. https://doi.org/10.1051/VETRES:2006053
- Harper M, Boyce JD, Adler B (2006) Pasteurella multocida pathogenesis:125 years after Pasteur. FEMS Microbiol Lett 265:1–10. https://doi. org/10.1111/J.1574-6968.2006.00442.X
- Rosenbusch CT, Merchant IA (1939) A study of the hemorrhagic septicemia Pasteurellae. J Bacteriol 37:69–89. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB. 37.1.69-89.1939
- Dowling A, Hodgson JC, Schock A, Donachie W, Eckersall PD, Mckendrick IJ (2002) Experimental induction of pneumonic pasteurellosis in calves by intratracheal infection with *Pasteurella multocida* biotype A:3. Res Vet Sci 73:37–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-5288(02)00037-1
- Dabo SM, Taylor JD, Confer AW (2007) Pasteurella multocida and bovine respiratory disease. Anim Heal Res Rev 8:129–150. https://doi.org/10. 1017/S1466252307001399
- Praveena PE, Periasamy S, Kumar AA, Singh N (2014) Pathology of experimental infection by *Pasteurella multocida* serotype A: 1 in buffalo calves. Vet Pathol 51:1109–1112. https://doi.org/10.1177/0300985813 516647
- Mostaan S, Ghasemzadeh A, Sardari S, Shokrgozar MA, Nikbakht Brujeni G, Abolhassani M, Ehsani P, Asadi Karam MR (2020) Pasteurella multocida vaccine candidates: a systematic review. Avicenna J Med Biotechnol 12:140
- Cuevas I, Carbonero A, Cano D, García-Bocanegra I, Amaro MÁ, Borge C (2020) Antimicrobial resistance of *Pasteurella multocida* type B isolates associated with acute septicemia in pigs and cattle in Spain. BMC Vet Res 16:222. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-020-02442-z
- Angen Ø, Mutters R, Caugant DA, Olsen JE, Bisgaard M (1999) Taxonomic relationships of the [*Pasteurella*] haemolytica complex as evaluated by DNA-DNA hybridizations and 165 rRNA sequencing with proposal of Mannheimia haemolytica gen. nov., comb. nov., Mannheimia granulomatis comb. nov., Mannheimia glucosida sp. nov., Mannheimia ruminalis sp. nov. and Mannheimia varigena sp. nov. Int J Syst Bacteriol 49:67–86. https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-49-1-67
- Rice JA, Carrasco-Medina L, Hodgins DC, Shewen PE (2007) Mannheimia haemolytica and bovine respiratory disease. Anim Heal Res Rev 8:117–128. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1466252307001375
- 42. Gibbs HA, Allan EM, Wiseman A, Selman IE (1984) Experimental production of bovine pneumonic pasteurellosis. Res Vet Sci 37:154–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-5288(18)31898-8
- Singh K, Ritchey JW, Confer AW (2011) Mannheimia haemolytica: bacterial-host interactions in bovine Pneumonia. Vet Pathol 48:338–348. https://doi.org/10.1177/0300985810377182
- Tucci P, Estevez V, Becco L, Cabrera-Cabrera F, Grotiuz G, Reolon E, Marín M (2016) Identification of Leukotoxin and other vaccine candidate proteins in a *Mannheimia haemolytica* commercial antigen. Heliyon 2:e00158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2016.e00158
- Capik SF, Moberly HK, Larson RL (2021) Systematic review of vaccine efficacy against Mannheimia haemolytica, Pasteurella multocida, and Histophilus somni in North American cattle. Bov Pract 55:125–133. https://doi.org/10.21423/BOVINE-VOL55NO2P125-133
- Amat S, Alexander TW, Holman DB, Schwinghamer T, Timsit E (2020) Intranasal bacterial therapeutics reduce colonization by the respiratory pathogen *Mannheimia haemolytica* in dairy calves. Systems 5:e00629-e719. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00629-19
- Headley SA, Pereira AHT, Balbo LC, Di Santia GW, Bracarense APFRL, Filho LFCC, Schade J, Okano W, Pereira PFV, Morotti F, Preto-Giordano LG, Marcasso RA, Alfieri AF, Lisbôa JAN, Alfieri AA (2018) *Histophilus somni*-associated syndromes in sheep from Southern Brazil. Brazilian J Microbiol 49:591–600. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BJM.2017.12.008
- Corbeil LB, Widders PR, Gogolewski R, Arthur J, Inzana TJ, Ward AC (1986) *Haemophilus somnus*: bovine reproductive and respiratory disease. Can Vet J 27:90
- Murray GM, More SJ, Sammin D, Casey MJ, McElroy MC, O'Neill RG, Byrne WJ, Earley B, Clegg TA, Ball H, Bell CJ, Cassidy JP (2017) Pathogens, patterns of pneumonia, and epidemiologic risk factors associated with respiratory disease in recently weaned cattle in Ireland. J Vet Diagn Invest 29:20–34. https://doi.org/10.1177/1040638716674757
- Givens MD (2018) Review: risks of disease transmission through semen in cattle. Animal 12:s165–s171. https://doi.org/10.1017/S175173111 8000708

- Corbeil LB (2007) Histophilus somni host–parasite relationships. Anim Heal Res Rev 8:151–160. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1466252307001417
- Jánosi K, Stipkovits L, Glávits R, Molnár⁻T, Makrai L, Gyuranecz M, Varga J, Fodor L (2009) Aerosol infection of calves with *Histophilus somni*. Acta Vet Hung 57:347–356. https://doi.org/10.1556/AVET.57.2009.3.1
- Guzmán-Brambila C, Rojas-Mayorquín AE, Flores-Samaniego B, Ortuño-Sahagún D (2012) Two outer membrane lipoproteins from *Histophilus* somni are immunogenic in rabbits and sheep and induce protection against bacterial challenge in mice. Clin Vaccine Immunol 19:1826. https://doi.org/10.1128/CVI.00451-12
- Hale HH, Hemlboldt CF, Plastridge WN, Stula EF (1962) Bovine mastitis caused by a *Mycoplasma* species. Cornell Vet 52:582–591
- Nicholas RAJ, Ayling RD (2003) *Mycoplasma bovis*: disease, diagnosis, and control. Res Vet Sci 74:105–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-5288(02)00155-8
- Lysnyansky I, Ayling RD (2016) *Mycoplasma bovis*: mechanisms of resistance and trends in antimicrobial susceptibility. Front Microbiol 7:595. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00595
- Dudek K, Nicholas RAJ, Szacawa E, Bednarek D (2020) Mycoplasma bovis infections—occurrence, diagnosis and control. Pathogens 9:1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/PATHOGENS9080640
- McAuliffe L, Ellis RJ, Miles K, Ayling RD, Nicholas RAJ (2006) Biofilm formation by mycoplasma species and its role in environmental persistence and survival. Microbiology 152:913–922. https://doi.org/10.1099/ mic.0.28604-0
- Dudek K, Szacawa E, Nicholas RAJ (2021) Recent developments in vaccines for bovine mycoplasmoses caused by *Mycoplasma bovis* and *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp mycoides. Vaccines 9:549. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/vaccines9060549
- Cai HY, McDowall R, Parker L, Kaufman El, Caswell JL (2019) Changes in antimicrobial susceptibility profiles of *Mycoplasma bovis* over time. Can J Vet Res 83:34
- Makoschey B, Berge AC (2021) Review on bovine respiratory syncytial virus and bovine parainfluenza – usual suspects in bovine respiratory disease – a narrative review. BMC Vet Res 17:261. https://doi.org/10. 1186/S12917-021-02935-5
- Elvander M, Vilček Š, Baule C, Uttenthal A, Ballagi-Pordány A, Belák S (1998) Genetic and antigenic analysis of the G attachment protein of bovine respiratory syncytial virus strains. J Gen Virol 79:2939–2946. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-79-12-2939
- 63. Grubbs ST, Kania SA, Potgieter LND (2001) Prevalence of ovine and bovine respiratory syncytial virus infections in cattle determined with a synthetic peptide-based immunoassay. J Vet Diagn Invest 13:128–132. https://doi.org/10.1177/104063870101300206
- Paccaud MF, Jacquier C (1970) A respiratory syncytial virus of bovine origin. Arch Gesamte Virusforsch 30:327–342. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF01258363
- 65. Kumagai A, Kawauchi K, Andoh K, Hatama S (2021) Sequence and unique phylogeny of G genes of bovine respiratory syncytial viruses circulating in Japan. J Vet Diagn Invest 33:162–166. https://doi.org/10. 1177/1040638720975364
- Larsen LE (2000) Bovine respiratory syncytial virus (BRSV): a review. Acta Vet Scand 41:1–24. https://doi.org/10.1186/BF03549652
- Sarmiento-Silva RE, Nakamura-Lopez Y, Vaughan G (2012) Epidemiology, molecular epidemiology and evolution of bovine respiratory syncytial virus. Viruses 4:3452. https://doi.org/10.3390/V4123452
- 68. Theurer ME, Larson RL, White BJ (2015) Systematic review and metaanalysis of the effectiveness of commercially available vaccines against bovine herpesvirus, bovine viral diarrhea virus, bovine respiratory syncytial virus, and parainfluenza type 3 virus for mitigation of bovine respiratory disease complex in cattle. J Am Vet Med Assoc 246:126–142. https://doi.org/10.2460/JAVMA.246.1.126
- Lemon JL, McMenamy MJ (2021) A review of UK-registered and candidate vaccines for bovine respiratory disease. Vaccines 9:1403. https:// doi.org/10.3390/vaccines9121403
- Salem E, Dhanasekaran V, Cassard H, Hause B, Maman S, Meyer G, Ducatez MF (2020) Global transmission, spatial segregation, and recombination determine the long-term evolution and epidemiology of bovine coronaviruses. Viruses 12:534. https://doi.org/10.3390/V1205 0534

- Mebus CA, White RG, Stair EL, Rhodes MB, Twiehaus MJ (1972) Neonatal calf diarrhea: results of a field trial using a reo-like virus vaccine. Vet Med Small Anim Clin 67:173–174
- Thomas LH, Gourlay RN, Stott EJ, Howard CJ, Bridger JC (1982) A search for new microorganisms in calf pneumonia by the inoculation of gnotobiotic calves. Res Vet Sci 33:170–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0034-5288(18)32331-2
- Zhu Q, Li B, Sun D (2022) Advances in bovine coronavirus epidemiology. Viruses 14:1109. https://doi.org/10.3390/V14051109
- Vlasova AN, Saif LJ (2021) Bovine coronavirus and the associated diseases. Front Vet Sci 8:643220. https://doi.org/10.3389/FVETS.2021. 643220
- Constable PD (2009) Treatment of calf diarrhea: antimicrobial and ancillary treatments. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 25:101. https://doi. org/10.1016/J.CVFA.2008.10.012
- Boileau MJ, Kapil S (2010) Bovine coronavirus associated syndromes. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 26:123–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. CVFA.2009.10.003
- Maier GU, Breitenbuecher J, Gomez JP, Samah F, Fausak E, Van Noord M (2022) Vaccination for the prevention of neonatal calf diarrhea in cowcalf operations: a scoping review. Vet Anim Sci 15:100238. https://doi. org/10.1016/J.VAS.2022.100238
- Thiry J, Keuser V, Muylkens B, Meurens F, Gogev S, Vanderplasschen A, Thiry E (2006) Ruminant alphaherpesviruses related to bovine herpesvirus 1. Vet Res 37:169–190. https://doi.org/10.1051/VETRES:2005052
- Muylkens B, Thiry J, Kirten P, Schynts F, Thiry E (2007) Bovine herpesvirus 1 infection and infectious bovine rhinotracheitis. Vet Res 38:181–209. https://doi.org/10.1051/VETRES:2006059
- Schroeder RJ, Moys MD (1954) An acute upper respiratory infection of dairy cattle. J Am Vet Med Assoc 125:471–472
- Schwarz AJF, York CJ, Zirbel LW, Estela LA (1957) Modification of infectious bovine rhinotracheitis virus in tissue culture and development of a vaccine. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 96:453–458. https://doi.org/10.3181/ 00379727-96-23505
- Dagalp SB, Farzani TA, Dogan F, Alkan F, Ozkul A (2020) Molecular and antigenic characterization of bovine herpesvirus type 1 (BoHV-1) strains from cattle with diverse clinical cases in Turkey. Trop Anim Health Prod 52:555. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11250-019-02042-6
- Engels M, Ackermann M (1996) Pathogenesis of ruminant herpesvirus infections. Vet Microbiol 53:3–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1135(96)01230-8
- Tikoo SK, Campos M, Babiuk LA (1995) Bovine herpesvirus 1 (BHV-1): biology, pathogenesis, and control. Adv Virus Res 45:191–223. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0065-3527(08)60061-5
- Jones C (2019) Bovine herpesvirus 1 counteracts immune responses and immune-surveillance to enhance pathogenesis and virus transmission. Front Immunol 10:1008. https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2019. 01008/BIBTEX
- Raaperi K, Orro T, Viltrop A (2014) Epidemiology and control of bovine herpesvirus 1 infection in Europe. Vet J 201:249–256. https://doi.org/10. 1016/J.TVJL.2014.05.040
- 87. Ellis JA (2010) Bovine parainfluenza-3 virus. Vet Clin Food Anim Pract 26:575–593. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvfa.2010.08.002
- King NB, Gale C (1963) Studies on myxovirus parainfluenza-3 vaccine for prevention of shipping fever in cattle. J Am Vet Med Assoc 142:881–883
- Gutekunst DE, Paton IM, Volenec FJ (1969) Parainfluenza-3 vaccine in cattle: comparative efficacy of intranasal and intramuscular routes. J Am Vet Med Assoc 155:1879–1885
- Kumagai A, Kanno T, Kawauchi K, Tanaka K, Ishihara R, Hatama S (2020) Phylogenetic and antigenic analysis of bovine parainfluenza virus type 3 isolated in Japan between 2002 and 2019. Vet Microbiol 247:108774. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VETMIC.2020.108774
- Tsai KS, Thomson RG (1975) Bovine parainfluenza type 3 virus infection: ultrastructural aspects of viral pathogenesis in the bovine respiratory tract. Infect Immun 11:783. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.11.4.783-803. 1975
- 92. Saunders JR, Berman DT (1964) Epizootiologic studies of shipping fever: II. exposure of calves to Pasteurellae and para-Influenza 3 virus. Can J Comp Med Vet Sci 28:57
- Smith DB, Meyers G, Bukh J, Gould EA, Monath T, Scott Muerhoff A, Pletnev A, Rico-Hesse R, Stapleton JT, Simmonds P, Becher P (2017)

Proposed revision to the taxonomy of the genus *Pestivirus*, family *Flaviviridae*. J Gen Virol 98:2106. https://doi.org/10.1099/JGV.0.000873

- 94. Goens SD (2002) The evolution of bovine viral diarrhea: a review. Can Vet J 43:946
- Coggins L, Gillespie JH, Robson DS, Thompson JD, Phillips WV, Wagner WC, Baker JA (1961) Attenuation of virus diarrhea virus (strain Oregon C24V) for vaccine purposes. Cornell Vet 51:539–545
- Bachofen C, Braun U, Hilbe M, Ehrensperger F, Stalder H, Peterhans E (2010) Clinical appearance and pathology of cattle persistently infected with bovine viral diarrhoea virus of different genetic subgroups. Vet Microbiol 141:258. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VETMIC.2009.09.022
- Bachofen C, Vogt HR, Stalder H, Mathys T, Zanoni R, Hilbe M, Schweizer M, Peterhans E (2013) Persistent infections after natural transmission of bovine viral diarrhoea virus from cattle to goats and among goats. Vet Res 44:32. https://doi.org/10.1186/1297-9716-44-32
- Bielefeldt-Ohmann H (1995) The pathologies of bovine viral diarrhea virus infection: a window on the pathogenesis. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 11:447. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-0720(15)30461-8
- Brodersen BW (2014) Bovine viral diarrhea virus infections: manifestations of infection and recent advances in understanding pathogenesis and control. Vet Pathol 51:453–464. https://doi.org/10.1177/03009 85813520250
- Antos A, Miroslaw P, Rola J, Polak MP (2021) Vaccination failure in eradication and control programs for bovine viral diarrhea infection. Front Vet Sci 8:688911. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2021.688911
- 101. Gaudino M, Moreno A, Snoeck CJ, Zohari S, Saegerman C, O'Donovan T, Ryan E, Zanni I, Foni E, Sausy A, Hübschen JM, Meyer G, Chiapponi C, Ducatez MF (2020) Emerging Influenza D virus infection in European livestock as determined in serology studies: are we underestimating its spread over the continent? Transbound Emerg Dis 68:1125–1135. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13812
- 102. Nemanichvili N, Berends AJ, Tomris I, Barnard KN, Parrish CR, Gröne A, Rijks JM, Verheije MH, de Vries RP (2021) Influenza D binding properties vary amongst the two major virus clades and wildlife species. Vet Microbiol 264:109298. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VETMIC.2021.109298
- Murakami S, Sato R, Ishida H, Katayama M, Takenaka-Uema A, Horimoto T (2020) Influenza d virus of new phylogenetic lineage, Japan. Emerg Infect Dis 26:168–171. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2601.191092
- Huang C, Yu J, Hause BM, Park JY, Sreenivasan C, Uprety T, Sheng Z, Wang D, Li F (2021) Emergence of new phylogenetic lineage of Influenza D virus with broad antigenicity in California, United States. Emerg Microbes Infect 10:739–742. https://doi.org/10.1080/22221751.2021. 1910078
- 105. Salem E, Hägglund S, Cassard H, Corre T, Näslund K, Foret C, Gauthier D, Pinard A, Delverdier M, Zohari S, Valarcher JF, Ducatez M, Meyer G (2019) Pathogenesis, host innate immune response, and aerosol transmission of influenza D virus in cattle. J Virol 93:e01853-e1918. https://doi.org/10. 1128/JVI.01853-18
- Hause BM, Huntimer L, Falkenberg S, Henningson J, Lechtenberg K, Halbur T (2017) An inactivated influenza D virus vaccine partially protects cattle from respiratory disease caused by homologous challenge. Vet Microbiol 199:47–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2016.12.024
- Sreenivasan CC, Thomas M, Kaushik RS, Wang D, Li F (2019) Influenza a in bovine species: a narrative literature review. Viruses 11:561. https:// doi.org/10.3390/v11060561
- Zhang H, Porter E, Lohman M, Lu N, Peddireddi L, Hanzlicek G, Marthaler D, Liu X, Bai J (2018) Influenza C virus in cattle with respiratory disease, United States, 2016–2018. Emerg Infect Dis 24:1926–1929. https://doi.org/10.3201/EID2410.180589
- 109. Nissly RH, Zaman N, Ibrahim PAS, McDaniel K, Lim L, Kiser JN, Bird I, Chothe SK, Bhushan GL, Vandegrift K, Neibergs HL, Kuchipudi SV (2020) Influenza C and D viral load in cattle correlates with bovine respiratory disease (BRD): emerging role of orthomyxoviruses in the pathogenesis of BRD. Virology 551:10–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VIROL.2020.08.014
- 110. Zhang M, Hill JE, Fernando C, Alexander TW, Timsit E, van der Meer F, Huang Y (2019) Respiratory viruses identified in western Canadian beef cattle by metagenomic sequencing and their association with bovine respiratory disease. Transbound Emerg Dis 66:1379–1386. https://doi. org/10.1111/tbed.13172
- Headley SA, Okano W, Balbo LC, Marcasso RA, Oliveira TE, Alfieri AF, Negri Filho LC, Michelazzo MZ, Rodrigues SC, Baptista AL, Saut JPE,

Alfieri AA (2018) Molecular survey of infectious agents associated with bovine respiratory disease in a beef cattle feedlot in southern Brazil. J Vet Diagn Invest 30:249–251. https://doi.org/10.1177/1040638717 739945

- 112. Kudirkiene E, Aagaard AK, Schmidt LMB, Pansri P, Krogh KM, Olsen JE (2021) Occurrence of major and minor pathogens in calves diagnosed with bovine respiratory disease. Vet Microbiol 259:109135. https://doi. org/10.1016/J.VETMIC.2021.109135
- 113. Saade G, Deblanc C, Bougon J, Marois-Créhan C, Fablet C, Auray G, Belloc C, Leblanc-Maridor M, Gagnon CA, Zhu J, Gottschalk M, Summerfield A, Simon G, Bertho N, Meurens F (2020) Coinfections and their molecular consequences in the porcine respiratory tract. Vet Res 51:80. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13567-020-00807-8
- 114. Oliva J, Terrier O (2021) Viral and bacterial coinfections in the lungs: dangerous liaisons. Viruses 13:1725. https://doi.org/10.3390/v13091725
- Collier JR, Chow TL, Benjamin MM, Deem AW (1960) The combined effect of infectious bovine rhinotracheitis virus and *Pasteurella hemolytica* on cattle. Am J Vet Res 21:195–198
- 116. Baldwin DE, Marshall RG, Wessman EG (1967) Experimental infection of calves with myxovirus parainfluenza-3 and *Pasteurella haemolytica*. Am J vet Res 28:1773–1782
- 117. Collier JR (1968) Pasteurellae in bovine respiratory disease. J Am vet med Ass 152:824–828
- 118. Jericho KWF, Langford EV (1978) Pneumonia in calves produced with aerosols of bovine herpesvirus 1 and *Pasteurella haemolytica*. Can J Comp Med 42:269
- 119. Yates WD, Babiuk LA, Jericho KW (1983) Viral-bacterial pneumonia in calves: duration of the interaction between bovine herpesvirus 1 and *Pasteurella haemolytica*. Can J Comp Med 47:257
- 120. Carriere PD, Maxie MG, Wilkie BN, Savan M, Valli VE, Johnson JA (1983) Exposure of calves to aerosols of parainfluenza-3 virus and *Pasteurella haemolytica*. Can J Comp Med 47:422
- 121. Potgieter LN, McCracken MD, Hopkins FM, Walker RD, Guy JS (1984) Experimental production of bovine respiratory tract disease with bovine viral diarrhea virus. Am J Vet Res 45:1582–1585
- 122. Gånheim C, Hultén C, Carlsson U, Kindahl H, Niskanen R, Waller KP (2003) The acute phase response in calves experimentally infected with bovine viral diarrhoea virus and/or *Mannheimia haemolytica*. J Vet Med B Infect Dis Vet Public Health 50:183–190. https://doi.org/10.1046/J. 1439-0450.2003.00658.X
- 123. Al-Darraji AM, Cutlip RC, Lehmkuhl HD, Graham DL, Kluge JP, Frank GH (1982) Experimental infection of lambs with bovine respiratory syncytial virus and *Pasteurella haemolytica*: clinical and microbiologic studies. Am J Vet Res 43:236–240
- Trigo FJ, Breeze RG, Liggitt HD, Evermann JF, Trigo E (1984) Interaction of bovine respiratory syncytial virus and *Pasteurella haemolytica* in the ovine lung. Am J Vet Res 45:1671–1678
- 125. Sharma R, Woldehiwet Z (1990) Increased susceptibility to Pasteurella haemolytica in lambs infected with bovine respiratory syncytial virus. J Comp Pathol 103:411–420. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9975(08) 80029-1
- 126. Prysliak T, Van Der Merwe J, Lawman Z, Wilson D, Townsend H, van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk S, Perez-Casal J, (2011) Respiratory disease caused by *Mycoplasma bovis* is enhanced by exposure to bovine herpes virus 1 (BHV-1) but not to bovine viral diarrhea virus (BVDV) type 2. Can Vet J 52:1195
- 127. Al-Darraji AM, Cutlip RC, Lehmkuhl HD, Graham DL (1982) Experimental infection of lambs with bovine respiratory syncytial virus and *Pasteurella haemolytica*: pathologic studies. Am J Vet Res 43:224–229
- 128. Gershwin LJ, Berghaus LJ, Arnold K, Anderson ML, Corbeil LB (2005) Immune mechanisms of pathogenetic synergy in concurrent bovine pulmonary infection with *Haemophilus somnus* and bovine respiratory syncytial virus. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 107:119–130. https://doi. org/10.1016/J.VETIMM.2005.04.004
- 129. Potgieter LND, Helman RG, Greene W, Breider MA, Thurber ET, Peetz RH (1988) Experimental bovine respiratory tract disease with *Haemophilus somnus*. Vet Pathol 25:124–130. https://doi.org/10.1177/0300985888 02500204
- 130. Zhang X, Outlaw C, Olivier AK, Woolums A, Epperson W, Wan XF (2019) Pathogenesis of coinfections of influenza D virus and *Mannheimia*

haemolytica in cattle. Vet Microbiol 231:246–253. https://doi.org/10. 1016/J.VETMIC.2019.03.027

- 131. Lion A, Secula A, Rançon C, Boulesteix O, Pinard A, Deslis A, Hägglund S, Salem E, Cassard H, Näslund K, Gaudino M, Moreno A, Brocchi E, Delverdier M, Zohari S, Baranowski E, Valarcher JF, Ducatez MF, Meyer G (2021) Enhanced pathogenesis caused by influenza D virus and *Mycoplasma bovis* coinfection in calves: a disease severity linked with overexpression of IFN-γ as a key player of the enhanced innate immune response in lungs. Microbiol Spectr 9:e0169021. https://doi.org/10.1128/spectrum. 01690-21
- 132. Sudaryatma PE, Mekata H, Kubo M, Subangkit M, Goto Y, Okabayashi T (2019) Coinfection of epithelial cells established from the upper and lower bovine respiratory tract with bovine respiratory syncytial virus and bacteria. Vet Microbiol 235:80–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. VETMIC.2019.06.010
- 133. Sudaryatma PE, Saito A, Mekata H, Kubo M, Fahkrajang W, Mazimpaka E, Okabayashi T (2020) Bovine respiratory syncytial virus enhances the adherence of *Pasteurella multocida* to bovine lower respiratory tract epithelial cells by upregulating the platelet-activating factor receptor. Front Microbiol 11:1676. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.01676
- 134. Fahkrajang W, Sudaryatma PE, Mekata H, Hamabe S, Saito A, Okabayashi T (2021) Bovine respiratory coronavirus enhances bacterial adherence by upregulating expression of cellular receptors on bovine respiratory epithelial cells. Vet Microbiol 255:109017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vetmic.2021.109017
- Agnes JT, Zekarias B, Shao M, Anderson ML, Gershwin LJ, Corbeil LB (2013) Bovine respiratory syncytial virus and *Histophilus somni* interaction at the alveolar barrier. Infect Immun 81:2592–2597. https://doi.org/ 10.1128/IAI.00108-13
- 136. Lin C, Agnes JT, Behrens N, Shao M, Tagawa Y, Gershwin LJ, Corbeil LB (2016) *Histophilus somni* stimulates expression of antiviral proteins and inhibits BRSV replication in bovine respiratory epithelial cells. PLoS One 11:e0148551. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0148551
- 137. McGill JL, Rusk RA, Guerra-Maupome M, Briggs RE, Sacco RE (2016) Bovine gamma delta T cells contribute to exacerbated IL-17 production in response to coinfection with bovine RSV and *Mannheimia haemolytica*. PLoS One 11:e0151083. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0151083
- Elvander M, Baule C, Persson M, Egyed L, Ballagi-Pordány A, Belák S, Alenius S (1998) An experimental study of a concurrent primary infection with bovine respiratory syncytial virus (BRSV) and bovine viral diarrhoea virus (BVDV) in calves. Acta Vet Scand 39:251–264. https://doi.org/10. 1186/BF03547797
- 139. Risalde MA, Molina V, Sánchez-Cordón PJ, Romero-Palomo F, Pedrera M, Gómez-Villamandos JC (2015) Effects of preinfection with bovine viral diarrhea virus on immune cells from the lungs of calves inoculated with bovine herpesvirus 1.1. Vet Pathol 52:644–653. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0300985814551579
- 140. Ridpath JF, Fulton RW, Bauermann FV, Falkenberg SM, Welch J, Confer AW (2020) Sequential exposure to bovine viral diarrhea virus and bovine coronavirus results in increased respiratory disease lesions: clinical, immunologic, pathologic, and immunohistochemical findings. J Vet Diagn Invest 32:513–526. https://doi.org/10.1177/1040638720918561
- Chase CCL (2013) The impact of BVDV infection on adaptive immunity. Biologicals 41:52–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOLOGICALS.2012.09. 009
- 142. Pollreisz JH, Kelling CL, Brodersen BW, Perino LJ, Cooper VL, Doster AR (1997) Potentiation of bovine respiratory syncytial virus infection in calves by bovine viral diarrhea virus. Bov Pract 31:32–38. https://doi.org/ 10.21423/BOVINE-VOL1997NO31.1P32-38
- 143. Brodersen BW, Kelling CL (1998) Effect of concurrent experimentally induced bovine respiratory syncytial virus and bovine viral diarrhea virus infection on respiratory tract and enteric diseases in calves. Am J Vet Res 59:1423–1430
- 144. Liu L, Lehmkuhl HD, Kaeberle ML (1999) Synergistic effects of bovine respiratory syncytial virus and non-cytopathic bovine viral diarrhea virus infection on selected bovine alveolar macrophage functions. Can J Vet Res 63:41
- 145. Risalde MA, Molina V, Sánchez-Cordón PJ, Pedrera M, Panadero R, Romero-Palomo F, Gómez-Villamandos JC (2011) Response of

proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines in calves with subclinical bovine viral diarrhea challenged with bovine herpesvirus-1. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 144:135–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. VETIMM.2011.07.022

- 146. Risalde MA, Molina V, Sánchez-Cordón PJ, Romero-Palomo F, Pedrera M, Garfia B, Gómez-Villamandos JC (2013) Pathogenic mechanisms implicated in the intravascular coagulation in the lungs of BVDV-infected calves challenged with BHV-1. Vet Res 44:20. https://doi.org/10.1186/ 1297-9716-44-20
- Romero-Palomo F, Risalde MA, Gómez-Villamandos JC (2017) Immunopathologic changes in the thymus of calves pre-infected with BVDV and challenged with BHV-1. Transbound Emerg Dis 64:574–584. https:// doi.org/10.1111/TBED.12406
- Gershwin LJ (2007) Bovine respiratory syncytial virus infection: immunopathogenic mechanisms. Anim Heal Res Rev 8:207–213. https://doi. org/10.1017/S1466252307001405
- 149. Lhermie G, Ferran AA, Assié S, Cassard H, El Garch F, Schneider M, Woerhlé F, Pacalin D, Delverdier M, Bousquet-Mélou A, Meyer G (2016) Impact of timing and dosage of a fluoroquinolone treatment on the microbiological, pathological, and clinical outcomes of calves challenged with *Mannheimia haemolytica*. Front Microbiol 7:237. https:// doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2016.00237
- Ishiguro K, Kitajima T, Kubota S, Amimoto K, Oda K, Fukuyama S, Shimizu Y (2005) Experimental infection of calves with *Pasteurella multocida* Serovar A: 3 isolated in Japan. J Vet Med Sci 67:817–819. https:// doi.org/10.1292/JVMS.67.817
- 151. Dagleish MP, Finlayson J, Bayne C, MacDonald S, Sales J, Hodgson JC (2010) Characterization and time course of pulmonary lesions in calves after intratracheal infection with *Pasteurella multocida* A:3. J Comp Pathol 142:157–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/JJCPA.2009.10.015
- 152. Gourlay RN, Thomas LH, Wyld SG (1989) Experimental *Pasteurella multocida* pneumonia in calves. Res Vet Sci 47:185–189
- 153. Vulikh K, Bassel LL, Sergejewich L, Kaufman El, Hewson J, MacInnes JI, Tabatabaei S, Caswell JL (2019) Effect of tracheal antimicrobial peptide on the development of *Mannheimia haemolytica* pneumonia in cattle. PLoS One 14:e0225533. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.02255 33
- 154. Houghton SB, Gourlay RN (1983) Synergism between Mycoplasma bovis and Pasteurella haemolytica in calf pneumonia. Vet Rec 113:41–42. https://doi.org/10.1136/VR.113.2.41
- 155. Gourlay RN, Houghton SB (1985) Experimental pneumonia in conventionally reared and gnotobiotic calves by dual infection with *Mycoplasma bovis* and *Pasteurella haemolytica*. Res Vet Sci 38:377–382
- 156. Gourlay RN, Thomas LH, Wyld SG, Smith CJ (1989) Effect of a new macrolide antibiotic (tilmicosin) on pneumonia experimentally induced in calves by *Mycoplasma bovis* and *Pasteurella haemolytica*. Res Vet Sci 47:84–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-5288(18)31236-0
- Corbeil LB, Woodward W, Ward AC, Mickelsen WD, Paisley L (1985) Bacterial interactions in bovine respiratory and reproductive infections. J Clin Microbiol 21:803–807. https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.21.5.803-807. 1985
- Bavananthasivam J, Dassanayake RP, Kugadas A, Shanthalingam S, Call DR, Knowles DPSS (2012) Proximity-dependent inhibition of growth of *Mannheimia haemolytica* by *Pasteurella multocida*. Appl Env Microbiol 78:6683–6688. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01119-12
- 159. Dassanayake RP, Call DR, Sawant AA, Casavant NC, Weiser GC, Knowles DP, Srikumaran S (2010) *Bibersteinia trehalosi* inhibits the growth of *Mannheimia haemolytica* by a proximity-dependent mechanism. Appl Env Microbiol 76:1008–1013. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02086-09
- Amat S, Subramanian S, Timsit E, Alexander T (2017) Probiotic bacteria inhibit the bovine respiratory pathogen *Mannheimia haemolytica* serotype 1 in vitro. Lett Appl Microbiol 64:343–349. https://doi.org/10.1111/ lam.12723
- 161. Elswaifi SF, Scarratt WK, Inzana TJ (2012) The role of lipooligosaccharide phosphorylcholine in colonization and pathogenesis of *Histophilus somni* in cattle. Vet Res 43:49. https://doi.org/10.1186/1297-9716-43-49
- 162. Petruzzi B, Dickerman A, Lahmers K, Scarratt WK, Inzana TJ (2020) Polymicrobial biofilm interaction between *Histophilus somni* and *Pasteurella multocida*. Front Microbiol 11:1561. https://doi.org/10.3389/ FMICB.2020.01561

- 163. Thomas AC, Bailey M, Lee MRF, Mead A, Morales-Aza B, Reynolds R, Vipond B, Finn A, Eisler MC (2019) Insights into *Pasteurellaceae* carriage dynamics in the nasal passages of healthy beef calves. Sci Rep 9:11943. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-48007-5
- 164. Klima CL, Alexander TW, Read RR, Gow SP, Booker CW, Hannon S, Sheedy C, McAllister TA, Selinger LB (2011) Genetic characterization and antimicrobial susceptibility of *Mannheimia haemolytica* isolated from the nasopharynx of feedlot cattle. Vet Microbiol 149:390–398. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.VETMIC.2010.11.018
- 165. Taylor JD, Fulton RW, Dabo SM, Lehenbauer TW, Confer AW (2010) Comparison of genotypic and phenotypic characterization methods for *Pasteurella multocida* isolates from fatal cases of bovine respiratory disease. J Vet Diagn Invest 22:366–375. https://doi.org/10.1177/10406 3871002200304
- 166. Chiu CY (2013) Viral pathogen discovery. Curr Opin Microbiol 16:468. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MIB.2013.05.001

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions

